Assessment of fatty acid profile and biosynthetic lipid intermediates in cultured cells and its application to study the potential role of enhanced electron transfer in the control of fatty acid desaturation

PhD thesis

Anna Somogyi

Molecular Medicine Doctoral School

Semmelweis University



Supervisor: Miklós Csala, MD, D.Sc. Blanka Tóth Ph.D. Official reviewers: Katalin Monostory, Ph.D.

Olivér Ozohanics Ph.D.

Complex Examination Committee

Head: Péter Enyedi, MD. D.Sc.

Members: Erzsébet Komorowicz, MD. Ph.D.

Viola Horváth, Ph.D.

Budapest

2021

Table of contents

Table of contents	2
List of abbreviations	4
1. Introduction	6
1.1. Elevated fatty acid levels in overnutrition	6
1.2. Toxicity of fatty acids	7
1.2.1. Molecular background of lipotoxicity	7
1.2.2. Differences between the toxicity of saturated and unsaturated fatty acids	8
1.3. Lipid metabolism	9
1.3.1. Complex lipids	9
1.3.2. Role of Stearoyl-CoA desaturase in lipid metabolism	1
1.4. Analytical methods for the determination of lipids in biological samples 1	4
1.4.1. Analysis of lipid profile by using gas chromatography1	4
1.4.2. Quantitation of complex lipids by using high performance liquid	
chromatography1	5
2. Objectives	17
3. Results	9
3.1. Development of an HPLC-MS/MS method for the simultaneous quantitative analysis of ceramides and diglycerides in cultured cells	9
3.1.1. Optimization of tandem mass spectrometry 1	9
3.1.2. Liquid chromatography	20
3.1.3. Sample preparation	21
3.1.4. Effect of palmitate treatment on ceramide and DG levels in HepG2 cells 2	22
3.2. Development, validation and application of a GC-FID assay to study cellular incorporation of dietary trans fatty acids	24
3.2.1. GC-FID assay development	24
3.2.2. Validation of the GC-FID assay	26
3.2.3. Incorporation of fatty acids into cultured insulinoma cells	30
3.3. Investigation of Fatty Acid Desaturation and the Associated Electron Transfer Chain	31
3.3.1. Changes in the fatty acid profile of HEK293T cells after overexpression of SCD1 or NCB5OR and/or palmitate administration	31
3.3.2. Fatty acid desaturation in the cells overexpressing various components of the related electron transfer chains	34
4. Discussion	37

DOI:10.14753/SE.2021.2547

5. Conclusion	
6. Summary	
7. References	44
8. Bibliography of the candidate's publications	56
9. Acknowledgements	58

List of abbreviations

AP-1	activating protein 1
ATF-6	activating transcription factor 6
BSA	bovine serum albumin
cDNA	complementary DNA
СНОР	C/EBP homologous protein
CoA	coenzyme A
CYB5	cytochrome b5
CYB5R	cytochrome b5 reductase
DG	diglyceride
DGAT	diacylglycerol acyltransferase
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ERK1/2	extracellular signal-regulated kinases
FA	fatty acid
FAME	fatty acid methyl ester
FAT/CD36	fatty acid/translocase
FFA	free fatty acid
FID	flame ionization detection
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GC	gas chromatography
HEK293T	human embryonic kidney 293T cell
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
IKK	inhibitory-kB kinase

DOI:10.14753/SE.2021.2547

IL-1R	interleukin 1 receptor
IRE-1a	inositol requiring enzyme 1α
IRS	insulin receptor substrate
JNK	c-Jun aminoterminal kinase
MRM	multiple reaction monitoring
MS	mass spectrometry
NASH	non-alcoholic steatohepatitis
NCB5OR	NAD(P)H cytochrome b5 oxidoreductase
NF-κB	nuclear factor kB
PERK	protein kinase R-like ER kinase
РКС	protein kinase C
PLC	phospholipase C
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RT-PCR	reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
SCD1	stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1
TFA	trans fatty acid
TG	triglyceride
TLR-4	Toll-like receptor 4
TNFR	tumor necrosis factor receptor
UPR	unfolded protein response

1. Introduction

1.1. Elevated fatty acid levels in overnutrition

Obesity and its connected diseases, such as insulin resistance and type II diabetes, nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) and cardiovascular diseases have become pandemics. According to a report by WHO in 2014, 1.9 billion of the humans older than 18 years are obese. This fact and the growing death rate caused by obesity connected diseases are focusing the attention of researchers on the investigation of the mechanism of these pathologies.

Depot fat stored in lipid droplets in the adipocytes contains both endogenously synthetized fatty acids (FAs) and FAs ingested with animal fat [1] and with natural or hydrogenated plant oils [2]. Dietary fats are usually absorbed in the intestines as resynthesized complex lipids packed in chylomicrons and transported to the adipose tissue through the lymphatic and systemic circulation [3]. The other nutrients, such as sugars or amino acids are also largely converted into FAs and then into complex lipids in the liver. These lipids are packed into very low-density lipoproteins, and they are also transported to the fat tissue through the systemic circulation. FAs are liberated from triglycerides (TGs) by lipoprotein lipase presented in the capillaries of the adipose tissue, and then they get into the adipocytes. Chronic oversupply of these lipoprotein-derived FAs eventually causes adjocyte hypertrophy, a basic feature of obesity, which in case of genetic predisposition, can lead to local inflammation in the adipose tissue [4]. Cells produce adipokines and leukotrienes, and so activate the inflammatory macrophages and lymphocytes. Cytokines secreted by macrophages interfere with insulin signaling and cause an intensification in TG turnover. This effect along with the constant oversupply of nutrients leads to an increase in the free fatty acid (FFA) level of the serum [5]. While the FFAs can serve as nutrients for aerobic cells primarily in starvation and physical exercise, a chronic and continuous elevation of serum FFA level is deleterious to a wide variety of cells and tissues.

Several *in vitro* studies have been performed to investigate the molecular mechanism of lipotoxicity on various cell lines by using the major endogenously synthetized saturated FA palmitate (16:0) and unsaturated FA oleate (18:1 c Δ 9) at high concentrations. It has been demonstrated that the key events are the FFA-induced endoplasmic reticulum (ER)

stress [6], changes in mitochondrial functions [7] and the altered lipid metabolism with accumulation of toxic intermediates [8].

1.2. Toxicity of fatty acids

1.2.1. Molecular background of lipotoxicity

The cell nutrient FFAs can also serve as signal molecules by connecting to the cell surface receptors, thus a chronic elevation of the FFA levels can disturb cellular functions in both ways. By connecting to the Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR-4), interleukin 1 receptor (IL-1R) and tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) on the cell surface, saturated FAs induce the production of inflammatory cytokines (i.e. interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor- α) [9]. The produced cytokines activate nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) and activating protein 1 (AP-1) transcription factors through the activation of inhibitory- κ B kinase (IKK) complex and c-Jun aminoterminal kinase (JNK) and induce an inflammatory response. Palmitate can also trigger Ca²⁺ signaling by activating the fatty acid/translocase (FAT/CD36) receptor on the cell surface [10].

FAs enter the cytosol via a protein-mediated transport [11] and they are activated with coenzyme A (CoA). A permanent FA-CoA surplus intensifies mitochondrial and peroxisomal β -oxidation, which causes an elevation in the level of reactive oxygen species (ROS).

The Fa-CoA excess may cause disturbance in the normal functions of the ER as well. Long chain FA-CoA molecules, especially the saturated ones can cause a change in the Ca²⁺-homeostasis of the organelle's luminal environment through two major routes. Palmitoyl-CoA has a membrane-permeabilizing effect [12], which contributes to ER Ca²⁺ depletion along with the signaling through FAT/CD36 receptor. Since Ca²⁺ is essential for the proper functioning of chaperons and foldases in the ER lumen, the ion release may cause a disturbance in the protein folding and quality control. The ER transmembrane stress receptors, i.e., inositol requiring enzyme 1α (IRE-1 α), protein kinase R-like ER kinase (PERK) and the activating transcription factor 6 (ATF-6) detect the increasing amount of immature, unfolded proteins. Through these sensors, the shift in the balance of protein translation and protein folding, and the consequent intraluminal accumulation of immature proteins induce the unfolded protein response (UPR) [13]. In case of a chronic

DOI:10.14753/SE.2021.2547

stress, the UPR can cause apoptosis via PERK and IRE1 pathways by inducing transcription and translation of proapoptotic factors such as the C/EBP homologous protein (CHOP) [14] and activation of JNK [15]. The oxidative stress along with the ER-stress also enhances the inflammation through the activation IKK and JNK [16, 17].

Insulin receptor substrate (IRS) proteins further take part in insulin signaling through their tyrosine phosphorylation after they connect to the activated insulin receptor. However, while the tyrosine phosphorylation is an intrinsic part of the IRS function, the serine phosphorylations in the same polypeptide chains inhibit this functioning. The stress kinases JNK, IKK and protein kinase C (PKC) can serine phosphorylate the IRS, thus inflammation and the oxidative and ER-stress inhibit the insulin signaling pathway at this point [18, 19]. A chronic stress, such as the one caused by permanently elevated FFA levels, often leads to insulin resistance in the body. β -cells increase insulin production to compensate the developed insulin resistance, however, the long-term pressure and the deleterious effects of lipotoxicity on β -cells themselves can hinder the proper functioning of these insulin producing cells and it can lead to a decrease in the β -cell mass. These synergistic effects may lead to the development of type II diabetes.

1.2.2. Differences between the toxicity of saturated and unsaturated fatty acids

Saturated FAs such as palmitate are known to be more toxic than unsaturated ones [20-22]. Dietary trans fatty acids (TFA) namely elaidate of industrial origin (18:1 t Δ 9) or naturally occurring vaccenate (18:1 t Δ 11) have controversial assessment. *In vivo* studies suggest that chronic intake of TFAs may be associated with type II diabetes [23]. On the contrary, Kleber et al. found no correlation between the TFA intake and adverse cardiac outcomes [24]. However, *in vitro* investigation on a rat insulinoma cell line revealed that TFAs show greater similarity to oleate that to palmitate regarding either the short-term toxicity or the lipid metabolism [25]. Recently, a growing attention is focused on the investigation of the potential protective effects of oleate against palmitate toxicity. It has been shown that co-administration of oleate with palmitate can prevent activation of the unfolded protein response in β -cells [26]. In neuronal cells, oleate-pretreatment blocked phosphorylation of NF- κ B promoted by palmitate. It has been proved that in muscle cells, oleate protects against palmitate-induced mitochondrial DNA damage and decline in ATP level, and also that treatment with oleate and an oleate-palmitate mixture does not induce mitochondrial ROS production in contrast with palmitate alone [16]. In hepatocytes and a hepatoma cell line, oleate addition alleviated palmitate-induced toxicity, restored the cell viability, and reduced oxidative and ER-stress [27]. Furthermore, in case of rats with high fat diet, a half replacement of the diet with olive oil also decreased NASH injury. It has been proved that TFA co-administration can also attenuate the toxic effects of palmitate to some degree, in rat insulinoma cell cultures [28].

1.3. Lipid metabolism

1.3.1. Complex lipids

Beside the intensified β -oxidation, the enhanced incorporation of FAs into complex lipids provides an alternative for the cells to control the amount of FA-CoA. Thus, the build-up of FA-CoA causes a significant intracellular accumulation of several lipid species as well. The adverse effects of the excess FFAs are usually attributed to the accumulation of ectopic fat in different cells such as hepatocytes or β -cells [5]. However, since TGs are neutral and non-toxic lipids, incorporation of FA-CoA into TGs can ameliorate the toxic effects of FA surplus [29]. In the synthesis of TGs, a key enzyme is the diacylglycerol acyltransferase (DGAT), which has two isoforms, DGAT-1 and DGAT-2. DGAT-1 knock-out mice have normal weight when they are fed chow but are unable to gain weight on high-fat diet [30]. This indicated that a second DGAT may exist. DGAT-2 has a specific affinity twice as high to oleoyl-CoA than to palmitoyl-CoA [31]. This is in accordance with the observation that the synthesis of TGs has a genetically determined pattern. Normally, a saturated FA chain is connected to the first carbon of glycerol, and an unsaturated FA chain occupies the second position [32].

Diglycerides (DGs), the esters of a glycerol and two FA chains, are central intermediates of TG and phospholipid metabolism. 1,2-DGs are formed from plasma membrane glycerolipids via a hydrolytic cleavage by phospholipase C (PLC), and they activate PKC isoenzymes, thus they serve as signal messengers. Activation of PKC leads to an ER Ca²⁺ depletion thus it may also contribute to the ER-stress [10]. In case of an excess of FAs, DGs produced by both PLC-mediated signaling and by stimulated esterification of glycerol can also have an effect on insulin secretion [33]. In the synthesis and metabolism of phospholipids, DGs are central intermediates thus alterations in their structure have

effects on the composition of cellular membranes. It has been shown that decreased phospholipid unsaturation can induce the UPR [34], similarly to the disturbed protein maturation that is considered as a fundamental feature of the ER stress. In CHO cells, it has been proven that exogenous palmitate is rapidly incorporated into membrane phospholipids (mostly into phosphatidylcholine) [35]. It has been also revealed that the increased saturation of membrane lipid species causes an obvious change in ER structure and membrane integrity. Computational analyses showed that unsaturated FAs can prevent changes in the membrane fluidity so they can act as membrane stabilizer molecules [36].

When comparing the toxicity of saturated and unsaturated fatty acids, oleate has been proved to induce a more pronounced TG accumulation than palmitate [20, 27]. On the contrary, palmitate treatment caused a significant DG build-up in a human hepatoma cell line [37, 38] and rat insulinoma cell cultures [25] as well. In neuronal cells, oleate pretreatment and also co-treatment increased TG levels and prevented the palmitate-induced DG accumulation [39].

Saturated FA oversupply is assumed to increase the amount of DGs containing two saturated fatty acyl chains, which can block the following steps of TG synthesis in the cells. Thus, effects which can channel the FA-CoA surplus into TG pool (such as presence of unsaturated FA or an enhanced desaturase activity in the cells) may prevent saturated FA-induced lipotoxicity. But when the TG synthesis is blocked, the FA-CoA excess may be diverted towards the synthesis of other, potentially toxic lipid intermediates such as ceramides.

Ceramides are FA amides of sphingosine. These compounds form the hydrophobic backbones of sphingolipids, and they also play roles in cell signaling. Ceramides are known to participate in signaling pathways influencing cell growth [40] cellular senescence [41], and they can induce apoptosis as well [42-44]. The FA-CoA supply can affect the intracellular ceramide synthesis in several steps. Ceramides can be synthetized in two different ways, the *de novo* synthesis and the so-called salvage pathway [45]. During the *de novo* synthesis, the first step is a fusion of palmitoyl-CoA and serine which results in a 3-dehydrosphinganine, which is reduced to sphinganine in the next step. Ceramide synthase acylates sphinganine with another FA-CoA to produce

dihydroceramide, which can be desaturated to form a ceramide. In the salvage pathway, sphingosine, which is an intermediate of sphingolipid degradation is recycled through an acylation by ceramide synthase resulting in another molecule of ceramide. As it can be seen, several FA-CoA molecules can enter the ceramide synthesis pathways; hence it is likely that any alteration in the FA-CoA supply of the cells can modify the level of the different types of ceramides. Ceramides are involved in FA-induced toxicity via different pathways. In rat insulinoma cells and primary rat pancreatic islets, ceramide analogue (C2-ceramide) increased β -cell apoptosis, furthermore, it induced JNK phosphorylation and caspase-3 cleavage [46]. Regarding the mitochondrial dysfunctions, C2-ceramide caused a collapse in the mitochondrial membrane potential which led to a cytochrome c release, and the ROS level was also increased. According to publications, mitochondrial ROS production occurred through *de novo* synthesis of ceramides in L6 myotubes as well [16]. It has been also revealed that oleate prevents the palmitate-induced ceramide accumulation in CHO cells [29] and in rat insulinoma cells [28].

These observations highlight the importance of a balanced availability of saturated and unsaturated FAs in the cells.

1.3.2. Role of Stearoyl-CoA desaturase in lipid metabolism

The end product of the *de novo* biosynthesis of FAs is mainly the saturated palmitate containing 16 carbon atoms. However, for the synthesis of the substrates for complex lipids, palmitate needs to be modified, i.e., elongated or desaturated [47]. In the human body, stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD1) is a key enzyme of the FA metabolism. It inserts a cis double bond at the $\Delta 9$ position into saturated FAs (i.e., 16:0 palmitate or 18:0 stearate) that yields the corresponding mono-unsaturated FAs (i.e., 16:1 cis $\Delta 9$ palmitoleate or 18:1 cis $\Delta 9$ oleate, respectively) [48, 49]. The substrates may come from *de novo* synthesis or from the hydrolysis of complex lipids, and they can be of endogenous or dietary FAs. As mentioned above, unsaturated FA chains are essential for the synthesis of TGs, thus SDC1 has a crucial role in providing the appropriate substrate supply in the process. SCD1 is co-localized with DGAT-2 in the ER-membrane which also contributes to a harmonized functioning [47].

The phenotype of SCD1 knock-out mice clearly shows the importance of the desaturase in TG synthesis. SCD1 knock-out mice are unable to accumulate depot fat and they are resistant to the obesity caused by a high-fat/high-carbohydrate diet because they have a limited capacity to synthetize complex lipids such as TGs [50]. *In vitro* experiments show that overexpression of SCD1, thus enhancing the desaturating activity of the cells, provides a protection against the saturated FA-induced toxicity while a decreased function of SCD1 aggravates the damage [51-53]. Reduced level of SCD1 in mouse insulinoma cells caused a more pronounced stress upon palmitate treatment [54]. SCD1-overexpressing CHO cells became completely resistant to palmitate-induced apoptosis compared to wild-type CHO cells and the caspase-3 activity was also reduced in response to palmitate treatment [29]. Moreover, SCD1-overexpressing cells treated with palmitate had a 5-fold increase in TG levels compared to control cells. This shows that SCD1 has an essential role in lipid metabolism. The ratio of the unsaturated (e.g., oleate) and the saturated (e.g., stearate) FAs influence the membrane fluidity, moreover, the produced unsaturated FAs are needed for the synthesis of complex lipids.

SDC1 is an iron-containing enzyme which is localized in the ER membrane. Desaturation occurs through a monooxygenation and a dehydration of the FA chain. Unlike other desaturases (such as $\Delta 5$ and $\Delta 6$ desaturases) which are natural fusion proteins thus contain a cytochrome b5-like and a desaturase domain, the $\Delta 9$ desaturase enzymes do not have this cytochrome b5-like domain [55, 56]. SCD1 receives electrons for its catalytic activity from NAD(P)H via NAD(P)H cytochrome b5 reductase (CYB5R) flavoprotein and cytochrome b5 (CYB5) hemoprotein electron-carriers [57, 58]. These proteins form the classic electron transfer chain in the ER membrane [59].

The NAD(P)H cytochrome b5 oxidoreductase (NCB5OR or CYB5R4) enzyme was first described by Hao Zhu et al. [60]. The enzyme is part of the ferredoxin–NADP⁺-reductase superfamily. All members of this superfamily have a FAD prosthetic group binding site and a NAD(P)H coenzyme binding site; however, the NCB5OR is the only member which has three well defined domains. The CYB5-like domain is localized on the N-terminal end of the protein and it has a heme group, and the CYB5R-like domain, localized on the C-terminal end, binds a FAD prosthetic group and it can also bind NAD(P)H. The hinge sequence (CS: CHORD-SGT1) links the two domains and it is responsible for the overall NAD(P)H-oxidoreductase activity. Both the CYB5-like and the CYB5R-like domains show homology with the microsomal CYB5 hemoprotein and

CYB5R flavoprotein, however, NCB5OR is a soluble protein that does not have a membrane-anchoring region.

NCB5OR has been proved to be a cytosolic enzyme that does not have access to the luminal ER redox environment [61]. This means that it uses the same electron supply as the CYB5R – CYB5 couple. When comparing the phenotype of CYB5 knock-out and NCB5OR knock-out mice, obvious differences can be seen. The unsaturated/saturated fatty acid ratio of CYB5 knock-out mice does not change significantly [62], while in case of NCB5OR knock-out, the desaturation is damaged, and the mice have lipoatrophy and insulin-dependent diabetes [63]. It was found that primary hepatocytes yielded from NCB5OR knock-out mice have increased sensitivity to palmitate and a firm ER-stress was seen after FA treatments in contrast to hepatocytes from wild type mice. These observations and the fact that NCB5OR has CYB5-like and a CYB5R-like domains suggest that NCB5OR may act as an alternative electron donor in Δ 9 desaturation [64] (Fig 1).

In case of an oversupply of saturated FAs, expression of SCD1 or/and the associated electron transfer proteins may be induced to alleviate the toxic effects. Because of the presence of an alternative electron transfer chain, and the protective role of NCB5OR against palmitate toxicity, we may assume that there is a need of an enhancement of the chain.



Figure 1. Electron transfer chains of microsomal fatty acyl-CoA desaturation. Saturated fatty acids can be desaturated by integral enzymes of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane. The first double bond is formed at carbon 9 in the saturated acyl-CoAs by a non-heme iron containing protein, stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD1). SCD1 converts saturated fatty acyl-CoA-s (FA-CoA), such as stearoyl-CoA (18:0) or palmitoyl-CoA (16:0) to Δ 9 mono-unsaturated derivatives, oleyl-CoA (18:1 cis Δ 9) or palmitoleyl-CoA (16:1 cis Δ 9), respectively. Cytosolic NAD(P)H feeds the process with electrons either through the flavoprotein cytochrome b5 reductase (CYB5R) and the hemoprotein cytochrome b5 (CYB5) or through the CYB5R-like and CYB5-like domains of NAD(P)H cytochrome b5 oxidoreductase (NCB5OR). ([65])

1.4. Analytical methods for the determination of lipids in biological samples

1.4.1. Analysis of lipid profile by using gas chromatography

Gas chromatography (GC) is a common tool to determine the lipid composition of different food samples such as milk or margarine, or biological matrices (such as blood or tissues). For GC measurements, the components must be volatile thus, the sample preparation process usually has to involve a derivatization step. In most of the cases, the lipids are converted into FA esters, in particular, fatty acid methyl-esters (FAME) [66].

In multiple-step sample preparations, the first step is the lipid extraction. The extraction method developed by Folch et al. [67] and improved by Bligh et al. [68] was the most common and frequently used method for lipid extraction. Both of these methods use chloroform and methanol as extracting agents and since that publication, several research has used this mixture [69-71]. The next step is the methyl-ester formation which can be catalyzed by acids or bases. Several publications suggest a saponification before the esterification. Saponification does not lead to a chemical equilibrium; thus, the

conversion may be near 100%, and the soaps can be easily and rapidly esterified by an acidic catalyzer [72].

In the one-step sample preparation, lipid extraction and derivatization occur simultaneously. Esterification may be performed without the saponification step [71, 73, 74], or with saponification as well [71]. In these methods, the produced FAMEs are usually extracted into heptane [71], benzene [73] or hexane [74].

There is a wide variety of possibilities for chromatographic separation and for detection of FAMEs. When the aim is to separate cis and trans isomers, we need a strongly polar stationary phase. This is usually a propyl-nitrile-polysiloxane stationary phase [75, 76], or a poly-(90%-bispropyl-nitrile-10%-propyl-nitrile-phenyl-siloxane) phase [77]. The most common detection techniques used in the analysis of FAMEs is flame ionization detection (FID) [69, 74, 78] or mass spectrometry (MS) [78, 79]. When gas chromatography is coupled to mass spectrometry, the ion source is usually an electron ionization source. Since the fragmentation pattern is unique to each molecule, the analytes can be identified by using this ion source.

1.4.2. Quantitation of complex lipids by using high performance liquid chromatography

Ceramides can be measured by different techniques. Lesser-used methods involve enzymatic measurements with diacylglycerol kinase assay [80, 81] and thin-layer chromatography [82, 83]. In some studies, high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) coupled to UV detection was used for the analysis [84, 85]. These methods usually cannot distinguish different types of ceramides thus only total ceramide level can be determined. Quantitation of different forms of ceramides can be performed by using tandem MS in multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode. The outstanding sensitivity and specificity of tandem MS allows the detection of the compounds without a prior separation step [86, 87]; however, the selectivity, specificity and the robustness can be further improved by coupling the MS to an HPLC [88, 89].

DGs can also be measured by the diacylglycerol kinase assay [90], by thin layer chromatography [37] or by capillary gas chromatography [91]. The main problem to be faced when detecting DGs by MS is the poor proton affinity of the compounds and the

consequent lack of a stable charge during ionization. This problem can be usually solved by derivatization or adduct formation [92, 93].

In the investigation of lipotoxicity, simple, precise and robust analytical methods are essential for the proper lipid profiling of cells. However, the current lipid measurements usually use time-consuming sample preparation methods and potentially carcinogenic extracting agents. Furthermore, the simultaneous determination of a wide array of different complex lipid species such as ceramides and DGs needs a newly developed methodology.

2. Objectives

High levels of FAs cause several cellular malfunctions such as ER stress or altered lipid metabolism which can cause an accumulation of toxic intermediates. The toxicity of saturated FAs is known to be more pronounced than that of the unsaturated ones. Furthermore, the co-administration of unsaturated FAs with saturated ones can attenuate the toxic effects of the latter both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Unsaturated FAs are essential for the synthesis of complex lipids such as TG. Without the sufficient amount of unsaturated FAs, this biosynthesis may be blocked which can lead to the build-up of FA-CoA and the consequent accumulation of ceramides. In vitro experiments revealed that overexpression of SCD1, thus enhancing the desaturating activity of the cells, protects against palmitate toxicity. SCD1 receives electrons from NAD(P)H via CYB5R and CYB5 for its functioning. The oxidoreductase NCB5OR has a CYB5R-like and a CYB5-like domain as well thus it may serve as an alternative electron donor. In addition, in NCB5OR knockout mice, the desaturation is damaged, and cells obtained from NCB5OR knock-out animals have increased palmitate sensitivity. Because of the presence of an alternative electron transfer chain, and the protective role of NCB5OR against palmitate toxicity, we may assume that the electron supply needs an enhancement in certain conditions. Based on this hypothesis, we aimed to investigate the dependence of the cellular desaturation activity on the expression level of the participating proteins. Our specific aims were the following:

 To develop suitable analytical methods for the assessment of uptake, incorporation and metabolism of the relevant saturated and cis or trans unsaturated fatty acids in cultured cells.

Our studies on the metabolic background of lipotoxicity were to be enhanced by an improved GC-FID method to analyze the FA content of the cell including esterified and non-esterified FAs and by an HPLC-MS/MS method to quantitate the amount of potentially toxic lipid intermediates (i.e., DG and ceramides).

 To investigate the possible alterations in cellular FA desaturation upon the overexpression of the participating protein components, i.e., SCD1, CYB5R, CYB5 or NCB5OR or their combinations. We intended to analyze the FA content of the cultured cells by the newly developed methodology and use the ratio of unsaturated/saturated FA levels as an indicator of the desaturation activity.

 To elucidate the rate-limiting step in the overall process of FA-CoA desaturation for a better understanding of the physiological and pathological role of the alternative electron supply pathways.

Demonstration of any condition (i.e., enhanced desaturation because of an SCD1 overexpression or a saturated FA overload) that makes the desaturation-associated electron transfer rate-limiting would provide a mechanistic explanation to the proposed anti-lipotoxic action of NCB5OR.

3. Results

3.1. Development of an HPLC-MS/MS method for the simultaneous quantitative analysis of ceramides and diglycerides in cultured cells

3.1.1. Optimization of tandem mass spectrometry

During the high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry measurements, we aimed to determine the levels of those ceramides and DGs which contain the most common endogenous FAs, i.e., palmitic (16:0), stearic (18:0), palmitoleic (16:1 cis Δ 9) and oleic (18:1 cis Δ 9) acids in different combinations. We used a non-physiological Cer17:0 ceramide as an internal standard.

We recorded a full scan mass spectrum for each ceramide and DG standard solution (5 μ g/ml). We successfully detected protonated ceramide ions in positive ionization mode. In case of DGs, the poor ionization ability is a problem to be faced. Thus, we used a 10 mM ammonium-acetate solution as mobile phase which enables the formation of ammonium-adducts. Precursor ions separated in the first quadrupole (Q1) were fragmented with N₂ in the second quadrupole (q2) and the product ions were scanned in the third quadrupole (Q3). We chose two product ions (or daughter ions) for each precursor (or mother ion) and these mass transitions were used during the measurements. This so-called multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode provides the high sensitivity, selectivity and efficiency of the triple quadrupole MS technique. In case of ceramides, one typical daughter ion for each measured compound had the m/z of 264. According to The Human Metabolome Database, this fragment is a common fragment ion for ceramides [94]. Previous studies suggested that this ion was generated by the loss of one acyl group and two molecules of water [87, 88]. The ion produced from the mother ion

As mentioned above, the mother ion for DGs was their ammonium-adduct. The two daughter ions were produced by the loss of either an acyl group and the NH₃ or one molecule of water. For dioleoyl-glycerol (DG 18:1-18:1), the transition from the loss of water could not be used since the m/z of the product ion would have been the same as the one produced from DG 18:0-18:2. Thus, one transition yielded by the loss of one oleoyl-group and one ammonia was used. The MRM transitions used in our method are presented in Table 1.

Compound	Symbol	Mass transition (m/z)	Retention time	
Compound	Symbol		(min)	
N_nalmitavl_snhingasina	Cer16.0	538.60-264.30	7 2	
N-pannitoyi-spinngosine	Cer10.0	538.60-520.60	1.2	
N-heptadecanoyl-	Cor17.0	552.61-264.30	8.0	
sphingosine	Cerr7.0	552.61-534.60	8.0	
N steerey sphingesine	Cor19.0	566.52-264.30	0 0	
N-stearoyi-spiningosine	Cer16.0	566.52-548.60	0.0	
N alagyi anhinggaina	Com19.1	564.66-264.30	65	
N-oleoyi-spiningosine	Ceria:1	564.66-546.50	0.3	
Din almitard almonal	DG	586.50-313.30	10.2	
Dipanintoyi-giyceroi	16:0-16:0	586.50-551.50	10.2	
Palmitoyl-palmitoleoyl-	DG	584.50-311.30	0.1	
glycerol	16:0-16:1	584.50-313.30	9.1	
Palmitoyl-stearoyl-	DG	614.60-313.30	117	
glycerol	16:0-18:0	614.60-341.30	11./	
	DG	612.50-313.30	10.7	
Pannitoyi-oleoyi-giyceroi	16:0-18:1	612.50-339.30	10.7	
Palmitoleoyl-oleoyl-	DG	610.50-311.30	0.0	
glycerol	16:1-18:1	610.50-339.30	9.9	
Distantial glycomol	DG	642.60-341.30	12.0	
Distearoyi-giyceroi	18:0-18:0	642.60-607.60	12.9	
Steeney clearl dyeanel	DG	640.60-339.30	12.0	
	18:0-18:1	640.60-341.30	12.0	
Dioleovl-glycerol	DG	638 80-339 30	11 4	
	18:1-18:1	050.00 557.50	11.4	

 Table 1. Quantitative HPLC/MS/MS parameters for ceramide and diglyceride analysis

3.1.2. Liquid chromatography

Compounds were separated on a Kinetex® 5 μ m, C8 100 Å, LC Column, 100 x 3 mm column. The flow rate was 0.5 ml/min with a gradient elution of methanol (mobile phase A) and 10 mM ammonium-acetate (mobile phase B): 0 min at 90 % A; 1 min at 90 % A; 9 min at 95 % A; 10.5 min at 98 % A; 11.5 min at 98 % A; 12 min at 90 % A; 14 min at 90 % A. Fig 2. shows a typical chromatogram of a control cell sample containing the measured ceramides and DGs.



Figure 2. Typical chromatograms of a control cell sample containing the measured ceramides and diglycerides. A specific identification of co-eluting compounds can be achieved using the MRM mode.

3.1.3. Sample preparation

The most common method, developed by Bligh et al. uses a chloroform:methanol (1:2 v/v) mixture for the extraction of lipids [68]. However, the consecutive steps may cause a substantial loss of sample, furthermore, the carcinogenic properties of chloroform are well-known. Hence, we developed a short, chloroform-free sample preparation method, and we compared the two extractions (Fig 3). The new method uses pure methanol as an extraction agent. Washed cells were suspended in methanol followed by a sonication of 15-20 sec. Then the samples were centrifuged (13400 rpm, 10 min, 24 °C), and the supernatant was directly infused from HPLC vials. In the original method, we used a chloroform:methanol (1:2 v/v) mixture. Cells were suspended in 90 μ l of methanol, and 45 μ l of chloroform was added to the samples. After sonication and

centrifugation, the supernatant was dried and reconstituted in 90 μ l of methanol. These solutions were sonicated and centrifuged, and the supernatant was transferred to HPLC vials.

We found no significant difference between the efficiency of the two extraction methods, thus we decided to use the new and shorter, chloroform-free sample preparation. After the optimization, we determined the percentage of ceramide and DG recoveries by adding known amount of the compounds to pooled cell suspensions. The recovery was between 79.1% and 86.4%.



Figure 3. Comparison of the two different extraction methods. Methanol: Washed cells were suspended in methanol, sonicated for 15-20 sec, and then centrifuged at 13400 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was directly injected from HPLC vials. Chloroform:Methanol 1:2 (v/v): 45 μ l chloroform was added to 90 μ l cell suspension in methanol. The samples were sonicated and centrifuged as above. The supernatant was then dried, reconstituted in 90 μ l methanol, sonicated, centrifuged, and the supernatants were transferred to vials for HPLC analysis. Relative ceramide and diglyceride peak areas compared to the internal standard peak area are presented as mean values; n=10. RSD% were below 10% in all cases.

3.1.4. Effect of palmitate treatment on ceramide and DG levels in HepG2 cells

The optimized methodology was tested on HepG2 human hepatocarcinoma cells. At 70-80% confluence, cells were treated with BSA-conjugated palmitate at a concentration of 250 μ M for 8 hours, and samples were prepared from the collected cells as described (10.3311/PPch.15357). An obvious, approximately 5-fold elevation of Cer16:0 ceramide (192 \pm 26 vs. 976 \pm 232 ng/mg protein; control vs. palmitate-treated, respectively) and Cer18:0 ceramide (15.3 \pm 4 vs. 86 \pm 15 ng/mg protein; control vs. palmitate-treated, respectively) was observed after the treatment (Fig 4). The observed elevation in stearoyl-

sphingosine (Cer18:0) is likely caused by the cellular build-up of stearoyl-chains through the elongation of palmitate.



Figure 4. Effect of palmitate treatment on ceramide levels. Cells were treated with BSA (control) or BSA-conjugated palmitate (250 μ M) at 70-80% confluence for 8 h. Ceramide levels were measured by LC-MS/MS and normalized to 1 mg protein. Data are shown as means; n=10, RSD% were below 10% in all cases.

We detected a significant accumulation of several DGs containing palmitate derivatives as well (Fig 5). The concentration of dipalmitoyl-glycerol (DG 16:0-16:0) increased 18.5fold $(0.71 \pm 0.23 \text{ vs.} 13.08 \pm 2.91 \text{ }\mu\text{g/mg}$ protein; control vs. palmitate-treated, respectively) while the palmitoyl-palmitoleoyl-glycerol (DG 16:0-16:1) level elevated 8fold $(0.36 \pm 0.06 \text{ }\mu\text{g/mg} \text{ vs.} 2.96 \pm 0.39 \text{ }\mu\text{g/mg}$; control vs. palmitate-treated, respectively) and palmitoyl-stearoyl-glycerol (DG 16:0-18:0) level increased 6.5-fold $(0.12 \pm 0.05 \text{ vs.} 0.77 \pm 0.21 \text{ }\mu\text{g/mg}$ protein; control vs. palmitate-treated, respectively). As mentioned before, 18:0 FA is an elongation product of palmitate, and 16:1 is also produced in the cells through desaturation of a palmitate molecule.



Figure 5. Effect of palmitate treatment on diglyceride levels. Cells were treated with BSA (control) or BSA-conjugated palmitate (250 μ M) at 70-80% confluence for 8 h.

Diacylglycerol levels were measured by LC-MS/MS normalized to 1 mg protein. Data are mean values; n=10. RSD% were below 10% in all cases.

The palmitate treatment had a remarkable effect on the ratio of fully saturated DGs (constituted of saturated FAs only) and partly or fully unsaturated DGs (containing at least one unsaturated FA group). The ratio changed considerably, from 0.11 to 0.82 (Fig 6).



Figure 6. Alteration in the ratio of fully saturated and at least partly unsaturated diglycerides upon palmitate treatment. Cells were treated with BSA (control) or BSA-conjugated palmitate (250μ M) at 70-80% confluence for 8 h. The amounts of saturated (DG 16:0-16:0, DG 16:0-18:0, DG 18:0-18:0) and at least partly unsaturated (DG 16:0-16:1, DG 16:0-18:1, DG 16:1-18:1, DG 18:0-18:1, DG 18:1-18:1, DG 16:1-18:1) DGs were measured by LC-MS/MS.

3.2. Development, validation and application of a GC-FID assay to study cellular incorporation of dietary trans fatty acids

3.2.1. GC-FID assay development

Sample preparation has been developed by improving previously published, fast, onestep methods [71]. Briefly, after harvesting the cells in PBS, the cell suspensions were transferred to glass vials, and mixed with a solution of 2% NaOH in methanol. The NaOH is used for saponification before the esterification step. After a saponification at 90 °C for 30 min, we cooled the samples. For esterification, we added methanol containing boron trifluoride and incubated the samples at 90 °C for 30 min. After cooling, the lipids were extracted with n-hexane and a saturated NaCl solution. The upper phase containing the FAMEs dissolved in hexane was transferred to glass vials for evaporation and resolution in hexane. This evaporation-resolution is essential to eliminate boron trifluoride and prevent the formation of dative bonds between the BF_3 and the stationary phase, thus, prevent the degradation of the column.

We used a Supelco 37 Component FAME Mix during our preliminary measurements to determine the FAMEs in our samples. First, we identified the peaks of the standard mix by mass spectrometric detection. We also performed preliminary FA treatments with 50 μ M of palmitate, oleate, elaidate or vaccenate. Since TFAs are exogenous, control cells do not contain all measured FAs. Then, using flame ionization detection we compared the chromatogram of the FAME Mix and of the cell cultures. According to the retention times, all but one peak could be identified. The exemption was vaccenate (18:1 t Δ 11) methyl ester, which was present only in the vaccenate treated cells, and it was not included in the FAME Mix, so it was identified by using a separate standard.

In the final measurements, we used a Zebron ZB-88 capillary column with a (propylnitrile)-aryl-dimethyl-polysiloxane stationary phase (60 m × 0.25 mm i.d., 0.20 μ m film thickness) with hydrogen carrier gas at 35 cm/s velocity and a purge flow of 3.0 ml/min. The split rate was 5, the injector and the detector temperature were 250 °C, and the oven temperature was ramped from 100 °C to 220 °C at a rate of 4 °C/min. In each measurement, we injected 1 μ l of the sample. With this method, we separated 10 FAMEs in a 25-min run (Fig 7).



Figure 7. Typical chromatograms of FAMEs in cell samples. RINm5F cells were incubated in a medium containing BSA-conjugated elaidate (red line) or vaccenate (blue line) at 50 μ M. Medium was eliminated, and cell samples were withdrawn after 6 h long incubations. Esterified and non-esterified cellular fatty acids were derivatized to methyl esters, and they were separated on a Zebron ZB-88 capillary column with a (propyl-nitrile)-aryl-dimethyl-polysiloxane stationary phase (60 m × 0.25 mm i.d., 0.20 μ m film thickness). Ten saturated or cis- or trans-unsaturated FAMEs were detected by flame ionization.

3.2.2. Validation of the GC-FID assay

After optimization, the assay was validated. We checked the specificity, linearity, lower limits of detection and quantification (LOD and LOQ, respectively), resolution, method precision, robustness and recovery.

To check the specificity, we performed our sample preparation method with the solvent and without cell suspension, and we found no peak with the same retention times as the analyzed FAMEs. For the linearity measurements, we prepared standard solutions of FAME standards at eight different concentrations from 1 to 200 μ g/ml. Our method was linear in this concentration range with an R²=0.998 for each compound. The LODs and LOQs were calculated from the mean values of the integration of three general noise peaks and the slope of the calibration curves. The LOD was 0.1 μ g/ml for each standard, and the LOQs were between 0.2–0.5 μ g/ml.

We used GC Solution software to determine the resolution values for the standard solutions with the highest concentration. Theoretically, the resolution value between two adjacent peaks should be minimum 1.5 for the best evaluation. As shown in Table 2, this was not reached in one case, between the 18:1 t Δ 9 (elaidate) and 18:1 t Δ 11 (vaccenate) peaks. However, since both FAs are exogenous, there was no elaidate and vaccenate in the same sample at the same time in our experiments. Thus, this does not have effect on the sample evaluation, only on the calibration. We also determined the resolution values for the peaks in cell samples (Table 3). The minimum value for resolution was 2.2; this clearly shows that the evaluation can be processed without any problem.

To investigate the precision of the retention time and the peak area, we injected the same, 10 μ g/ml standard solution (for each FAME) five times. The relative standard deviations (RSD%) were <5% for both parameters (Table 4). For the method precision, we prepared and injected three standard solutions from each type of investigated compound

(dipalmitoyl-glycerol for DGs, cis-palmitoelate for FFAs, stearoyl-sphingosine for ceramides and trioleoyl-glycerol for TGs). The measured concentrations and RSD% for each compound are shown in Table 5.

Resolutio	
16:0	n/a
16:1 c∆9	12.490
18:0	26.930
18:1 t∆9	5.374
18:1 t∆11	1.038
18:1 c∆9	2.037

Table 2. Resolution values for the 200 $\mu g/ml$ standard solution

Table 3. Resolution values for the peaks in cell samples

	16:0	16:1 t∆7	16:1 t∆9	16:1 c∆7	16:1 c∆9	18:0	18:1 t∆9	18:1 t∆11	18:1 c∆9	18:1 c∆11
16:0		9.4	10.6	12.7						
16:1 t∆7	9.4			3.6						
16:1 t∆9	10.6			2.3						
16:1 c∆7	12.7	3.6	2.3		2.5					
16:1 c∆9				2.5		36.2				
18:0					36.2		8.6	10.0	12.8	
18:1 t∆9						8.6			4.0	
18:1 t∆11						10.0			2.6	
18:1 c∆9						12.8	4.0	2.6		2.2
18:1 c∆11									2.2	

	Retentio	n time	Peak area		
	Mean [min]	RSD [%]	Mean [µVs]	RSD [%]	
16:0	17.767	0.006	30352	3.99	
16:1 c∆9	18.748	0.007	25357	3.91	
18:0	21.115	0.004	32773 3.83		
18:1 t∆9	21.666	0.004	23560	3.76	
18:1 t∆11	21.757	0.005	19832 4.11		
18:1 c∆9	21.925	0.006	24945 3.79		

Table 4. Precision of retention times and peak areas

 Table 5. Method precision

	Concentration [µg/ml]	RSD%
DG 16:0	22.30	0.46
FFA 16:1 c∆9	6.03	1.81
Ceramide 18:0	12.46	3.33
TAG 18:1 c∆9	37.23	5.07

The robustness of the method was determined by changing three parameters of the chromatographic method in two direction each during the measurement of standard solutions: the ramping of the temperature, the velocity of the carrier gas and the oven temperature. The measured concentrations after the changes are shown in Table 6. As all RSD% are below 8.2%, we can confidently say that our method is robust.

	3 °C/min	5 °C/min	34 cm/sec	36 cm/sec	98°C	102 °C
	RSD%	RSD%	RSD%	RSD%	RSD%	RSD%
16:0	6.17	5.57	5.62	3.60	7.90	2.90
16:1 c∆9	6.24	5.63	5.57	3.60	8.16	3.02
18:0	6.34	5.72	5.73	3.66	7.64	2.88
18:1 t∆9	6.45	5.63	5.80	3.62	7.97	3.02
18:1 t∆11	6.61	5.83	5.37	3.50	7.22	2.70
18:1 c∆9	6.68	5.66	5.47	3.62	7.65	2.71

Table 6. RSD% of the measured concentrations in the determination of robustness

As mentioned above, we used representative compounds for the most important types of lipids. We performed the recovery measurements with these four compounds as well. Standards were dissolved in chloroform in a volumetric flask which was then filled with methanol. Table 7 shows the concentration of spiking solutions. Then, standard solutions were added to samples containing cell suspension and 2% NaOH in methanol, or to samples containing standard solution and 2% NaOH in methanol. We prepared the samples as described from six standard solutions (Table 8) and three unspiked and three spiked samples (Table 9). Regarding the standard solutions, the recoveries for all four compounds were >90%. From cell samples, the recovery of FFA representative cispalmitoleate was 82%, however, when analyzing biological samples, this is still in the adequate range.

	m _{std} [mg]	mfame (α=100%) [mg]*	С _{FAME} in spiking solution [µg/ml]	Vspiking sol. [µl]	Mass of added FAME [µg]	C _{FAME} in the final 200 µl of hexane [µg/ml]
DG 16:0	0.32	0.30	152.12	10.00	1.52	6.08
FFA 16:1 c∆9	0.85	0.90	448.42	10.00	4.48	17.94
Ceramide 18:0	0.28	0.15	73.84	10.00	0.74	2.95
ТА G 18:1 с∆9	0.57	0.57	286.28	10.00	2.86	11.45

Table 7. Concentration of spiking solutions for the determination of recovery

*In case of a 100% conversion during the esterification step.

	c _{std} [µg/ml]	Mass in 100 μl	C _{100%} * [µg/ml]	C [µg/ml]	RSD%	Recovery [%]
DG 16:0	30.42	3.04	12.17	10.91	4.92	90
FFA 16:1 c∆9	89.68	8.97	35.87	35.52	2.35	99
Ceramide 18:0	14.77	1.48	5.91	5.31	8.32	90
TAG 18:1 c∆9	57.26	5.73	22.90	21.46	6.09	94

Table 8. Recovery measurements for standard solutions

*In case of a 100% conversion during the esterification step.

	Unspiked cells		Spiked cells		ΔC	ΔC	Recoverv
	C [µg/ml]	RSD%	C [µg/ml]	RSD%	(α=100%) [μg/ml]	[µg/ml]	[%]
DG 16:0	22.30	0.46	28.08	1.88	6.08	5.78	95
FFA 16:1 c∆9	6.03	1.81	20.77	1.88	17.94	14.73	82
Ceramide 18:0	12.46	3.33	15.34	1.69	2.95	2.88	97
ТА G 18:1 с∆9	37.23	5.07	48.17	0.90	11.45	10.94	96

Table 9. Recovery measurements for cell samples

3.2.3. Incorporation of fatty acids into cultured insulinoma cells

With the presented technique, we studied the incorporation of various FAs into RINm5F rat insulinoma cells. Special attention was paid on the two most important dietary TFAs, i.e., elaidate and vaccenate. 50 μ M BSA-conjugated palmitate, oleate, elaidate or vaccenate was used for the 6-hour long treatment, and we measured the changes in the cellular FA profile.

Our analysis showed that all of the four FAs were internalized and metabolized by the cells. The elevation of total FA content caused by endogenous saturated palmitate was obvious; the level of 16:0 containing lipid doubled during the treatment (to $61.00 \pm 12.84 \ \mu\text{g/mg}$ protein). The accumulation of two of its metabolites, the desaturation product 16:1 c Δ 9 cis-palmitoleate ($8.32 \pm 1.31 \ \mu\text{g/mg}$ protein vs. $10.13 \pm 1.97 \ \mu\text{g/mg}$ protein; control vs. palmitate treated) and the elongation product 18:0 stearate ($20.26 \pm 1.29 \ \mu\text{g/mg}$ protein vs. $24.31 \pm 3.69 \ \mu\text{g/mg}$ protein; control vs. palmitate treated) was detected as well (Fig 8).

Regarding treatment with the endogenous cis unsaturated 18:1 c Δ 9 oleate, we detected a doubling in its level, too (to 53.41 ± 7.65 µg/mg protein). However, there was no increase in any of its metabolic products (Fig 8).

The measurement revealed that both exogenous trans unsaturated FAs, the 18:1 t Δ 9 elaidate, and the 18:1 t Δ 11 vaccenate were also internalized effectively, and their concentration increased from zero to 29.65 ± 4.63 µg/mg protein and 33.32 ± 4.63 µg/mg

DOI:10.14753/SE.2021.2547

protein, respectively. At the same time, in contrast with oleate, the β -oxidation intermediates of these TFAs, which were undetectable in the control cell samples, were also accumulated significantly. We found that the concentration of 16:1 t Δ 7 FA increased to 2.24 ± 0.58 µg/mg protein in elaidate-treated cells and the concentration of 16:1 t Δ 9 FA increased to 2.76 ± 0.59 µg/mg protein in vaccenate-treated cells (Fig 8).



Figure 8. Fatty acid profile of the cells. Cells were incubated in a medium containing FA-free BSA (Control) or BSA-conjugated palmitate, oleate, elaidate or vaccenate (50 μ M) as indicated. Medium was eliminated, and cell samples were withdrawn after 6 h long incubation. The amount of 10 saturated and mono-unsaturated FAs was measured by GC-FID after saponification and methylation, and the results were normalized to the total protein content of the samples. Data are shown as means; n = 9. RSD% were below 10% in all cases.

3.3. Investigation of Fatty Acid Desaturation and the Associated Electron Transfer Chain

3.3.1. Changes in the fatty acid profile of HEK293T cells after overexpression of SCD1 or NCB5OR and/or palmitate administration

Transfection efficiency of HEK293T cells was tested and found to be over 80% using pEGFP-N1 expression vector and fluorescent microscopy. Then the cells were transiently transfected with verified constructs of pcDNA3.1 expression vector containing human *SCD1* or *NCB5OR* cDNA. According to our preliminary experiments, the maximum protein concentration in transfected HEK293T cells was reached after 24 h, and maintained between 24 and 48 h, and therefore, cells were harvested and processed 24 h

after transfection. We monitored the efficiency of the transfection and the expression level of the two genes by semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis (for mRNAs) and Western blot (for proteins). We could detect the endogenous mRNA expression of *SCD1* and *NCB5OR* in control (empty vector transfected) cells, while a large increase in the corresponding mRNA levels was detected upon transfection (Fig 9). Regarding the protein levels, a small amount of endogenous SCD1 protein was revealed, and we could hardly detect the endogenous NCB5OR protein in control cells. After transfection with the expression constructs, both protein levels increased remarkably (Fig 9).

We analyzed the FA content of the cells with the previously described GC-FID protocol. We evaluated the extent of FA desaturation by calculating the ratio of the two major mono-unsaturated FAs over the two major saturated FAs, which also corresponded the main SCD1 products 16:1 c Δ 9 cis-palmitoleate and 18:1 c Δ 9 cis-oleate and the main SCD1 substrates 16:0 palmitate and 18:0 stearate, respectively. We did not notice any apparent changes in the cellular FA profile after transfection with an empty vector (the unsaturated/saturated ratio was 1.25 ± 0.07 vs 1.25 ± 0.06 in the untransfected vs. mock-transfected cells, respectively) and we used the mock-transfected cells as control in the following experiments. After the overexpression of SCD1, the FA composition of the cells changed pronouncedly (Table 10). An obvious elevation was observed in the level of palmitoleate and oleate, and that of palmitoleate was statistically significant (Table 10). There was a marked elevation in the unsaturated/saturated ratio as well (Fig 9). Regarding the NCB5OR overexpression, we did not detect significant increase neither in the concentration of palmitoleate or oleate, nor in the calculated unsaturated/saturated ratio (Table 10 and Fig 9).



Figure 9. Changes in the fatty acid profile of the SCD1 or NCB5OR transfected HEK293T cells. A. SCD1 and NCB5OR mRNA levels were monitored in transiently transfected HEK293T cells by using semi-quantitative RT-PCR with gene specific primers and by using GAPDH as a housekeeping reference gene. A representative ethidium bromide-stained agarose gel image is shown. B. The amount of SCD1 and NCB5OR proteins was assessed by Western blot analysis of cell lysates by using specific antibodies and GAPDH as a loading and internal control. A representative immunoblot is shown. C. Cells were mock-transfected or transfected with the plasmid expressing SCD1 or NCB50R genes. They were harvested and FA methyl esters were produced by saponification and methylation 24 h after transient transfection. D. The cells (control or 24 h transfected) were treated with BSA or BSA-conjugated palmitate (50 μ M) for 15 h. Cells were then harvested, and FA methyl esters were produced by saponification and methylation. C and D. The amount of saturated (C16:0, C18:0) and mono-unsaturated (C16:1 cis Δ 9, C18:1 cis Δ 9) FAs was measured by GC-FID, and the ratio of unsaturated/saturated FAs was calculated. Data are shown in the diagrams as mean values \pm S.D.; n=3; *P < 0.01 vs. mock transfected control.

SDC1 and NCB5OR were found to have protective effects against palmitate toxicity in previously published studies [95, 96]. Thus, we decided to test the potential effects of SCD1 and NCB5OR overexpression under a palmitate oversupply. Cells were treated with BSA only as controls or 50 μ M BSA conjugated palmitate for 15 h. As a control for palmitate treatment, BSA did not cause any change in FA composition, whereas the concentration of palmitate and stearate increased obviously after palmitate treatment (Table 10). Alongside with this, the unsaturated/saturated ratio of cellular FAs decreased

slightly (Fig 9), which shows that the desaturating capacity was indeed challenged by the palmitate overload. When overexpressing the SCD1, we observed a marked elevation in the levels of palmitoleate and oleate again, and also in the extent of desaturation. However, the overexpression of NCB5OR had no effect on these parameters (Table 10 and Fig 9).

Table 10. Fatty acid profiles. HEK293T cells were transiently transfected with empty pcDNA3.1- (Mock-TR control) or pcDNA3.1-_SCD1, pcDNA3.1-_NCB5OR, pcDNA3.1-_CYB5, pcDNA3.1-_CYB5R plasmid constructs, and they were harvested at 24 h post-transfection. Some 24-h-long transfected cells were also treated with BSA or BSA-conjugated palmitate (50 μ M) for 15 hours before sample preparation. Saturated (16:0; 18:0) and mono-unsaturated (16:1 cis Δ 9; 18:1 cis Δ 9 FAs were measured by GC-FID after saponification and methylation. Data were normalized to the protein content of the samples and are shown as mean values \pm S.D.; n=3; *P < 0.01 vs. mock transfected control; #P < 0.01 vs. palmitate-treated mock transfected cells.

	Amount of fatty acid (µg/mg protein)						
	16:0	16:1	18:0	18:1			
	(palmitate)	(palmitoleate)	(stearate)	(oleate)			
Non-TR control	35.34 ± 2.64	15.06 ± 0.99	14.42 ± 1.17	47.23 ± 2.72			
Mock-TR control	36.73 ± 2.13	16.36 ± 1.13	14.79 ± 1.11	48.01 ± 3.03			
SCD1	34.57 ± 3.05	$25.52 \pm 1.84^{*}$	14.56 ± 1.32	53.08 ± 3.63			
NCB5OR	37.12 ± 3.12	16.27 ± 1.34	15.22 ± 1.28	48.95 ± 3.03			
BSA	37.59 ± 2.28	15.32 ± 1.01	15.09 ± 1.02	50.17 ± 2.94			
Palm	44.35 ± 3.44	18.49 ± 1.33	16.57 ± 1.63	52.42 ± 3.86			
Mock-TR+ Palm	42.36 ± 4.56	18.95 ± 1.46	14.50 ± 1.78	46.36 ± 3.62			
SCD1+Palm	44.63 ± 4.16	$30.40 \pm 2.39^{*\#}$	15.03 ± 1.82	52.66 ± 3.16			
NCB5OR+ Palm	$48.75 \pm 4.33^{\ast}$	21.28 ± 1.57	16.57 ± 1.35	52.59 ± 4.06			
CYB5	33.98 ± 2.14	14.20 ± 1.20	13.19 ± 1.11	41.08 ± 3.11			
CYB5R	38.91 ± 3.19	12.78 ± 1.29	14.14 ± 1.51	46.50 ± 3.85			
CYB5+CYB5R	32.45 ± 2.82	12.68 ± 1.79	12.24 ± 0.99	40.89 ± 3.08			
SCD1+CYB5	33.44 ± 2.45	21.79 ± 1.86	13.96 ± 1.01	45.11 ± 3.75			
SCD1+CYB5R	36.40 ± 2.96	21.83 ± 1.58	15.45 ± 1.53	47.24 ± 3.23			
SCD1+CYB5+CYB5R	32.07 ± 3.03	19.06 ± 1.84	11.67 ± 0.89	40.31 ± 2.98			
SCD1+ NCB5OR	39.83 ± 3.20	$25.38\pm1.38^*$	16.42 ± 1.13	54.48 ± 3.27			

3.3.2. Fatty acid desaturation in the cell	s overexpressing	various	components o	f the
related electron transfer chains				

Our results, regarding the lack of effects of NCB5OR overexpression on desaturation, indicate that either NCB5OR is unable to improve the electron supply of SCD1 or that the electron transfer chain is not saturated thus it does not need enhancement to supply

reducing power for SCD1. Therefore, we decided to overexpress the protein members of the classic chain, CYB5 and CYB5R or both in order to further study the level of desaturation.

Human CYB5 and CYB5R cDNAs were inserted into pcDNA3.1 expression vector, and we transiently transfected HEK293T cells with the verified constructs. 24 h after transfection, we examined the efficiency of transfection and the expression level of the two genes at mRNA and protein levels. We could detect the endogenous mRNAs of both genes in mock-transfected cells by RT-PCR, and as expected, the transfected cells showed elevated mRNA levels. The western blot showed a very low or almost undetectable amount of CYB5 and CYB5R, but after transfection, an obvious elevation was observed in their protein level (Fig 10). The FA composition of the cells was not changed after the overexpression of CYB5, CYB5R or their combination, and the extent of desaturation remained below that of the control cells (Table 10 and Fig 10).

According to our measurements, none of the electron transfer chain proteins could enhance the activity of SCD1. One potential cause may be that the potential of the electron transfer chain is not saturated. Hence, we decided to study the effect of CYB5R, CYB5, CYB5R + CYB5, or NCB5OR overexpression at highly accelerated desaturation in SCD1-transfected cells. Although the corresponding single transfection elevated the gene product levels more effectively, the elevation in the mRNA and protein levels are clearly seen after the double and triple co-transfection as well compared to control (Fig 10). Compared to the single SCD1 transfection, the elevation of the unsaturated/saturated ratio was less significant after co-transfections, and the cause is probably the lower protein level mentioned above. However, we could not detect the expected synergistic elevation in the extent of desaturation in any of the co-transfections (Table 10 and Fig 10).



Fig 10. Fatty acid desaturation in the cells overexpressing various components of the related electron transfer chains. HEK293T cells were mock-transfected or transfected with plasmids expressing *SCD1*, *CYB5*, *CYB5R* or *NCB5OR* genes and their combinations. **A.** The mRNA levels were compared by using semi-quantitative RT-PCR with gene specific primers and by using *GAPDH* as a housekeeping reference gene. A representative ethidium bromide-stained agarose gel of three independent experiments is shown. **B.** The amount of SCD1, CYB5, CYB5R and NCB5OR proteins was assessed by Western blot analysis of cell lysates by using specific antibodies and GAPDH as a loading and internal control. A representative immunoblot of three independent experiments is shown. **C and D.** Cells were mock-transfected or transfected with the expression constructs as indicated. They were harvested and FA methyl esters were produced by saponification and methylation 24 h after transient transfection. The amount of saturated (16:0, 18:0) and mono-unsaturated (16:1 cis Δ 9, 18:1 cis Δ 9) FAs was measured by GC-FID, and the ratio of unsaturated/saturated FAs was calculated. Data are shown in the diagrams as mean values \pm S.D.; n=3; *P < 0.01 vs. mock transfected control.

4. Discussion

Chronic elevated FFA levels may lead to type II diabetes [97, 98], NASH [99, 100] and insulin resistance [101-103]. Since FAs have an amphipathic character, they are largely connected to albumin in the plasma. Through the systemic circulation, they reach the cells and penetrate the cell membrane to get metabolized. In the cells, they are conjugated to CoA, and are modified for further utilization or are catabolized to provide energy for the cells. The FA modifications, such as elongation and desaturation, are catalyzed by ER-membrane associated enzyme systems. In the desaturation process, the first and committed event is the insertion of a cis-double bond in the Δ 9 position into the FA-chain by SCD1 enzyme [104]. This may be followed by the insertion of additional double bonds at other positions.

The higher toxicity of saturated FAs, such as palmitate, compared to that of unsaturated ones, such as oleate, has been repeatedly demonstrated [22, 105]. Moreover, the protective role of unsaturated FAs was proved *in vitro* in several cell cultures and *in vivo* as well [27, 106, 107]. One reason of the milder toxicity can be the different efficiency of their incorporation into complex lipids. The esterification of saturated FAs into TGs is less efficient in the absence of a proportionate supply of unsaturated ones, thus the co-administration of unsaturated ones can channel the saturated FA-CoA into TG synthesis [108, 109] and lessen the palmitate-induced DG and ceramide accumulation [28, 108, 110]. Since DGs are central intermediates of phospholipid synthesis, the alteration in their structure such as an increasing saturation of the FA chains has direct effects on the composition of membrane lipids. These facts highlight the importance of a balanced unsaturated ratio in the efficient TG synthesis and in the preservation of the ideal membrane fluidity.

In the analysis of FA composition or the complex lipid content of cell cultures, different analytical methods can be used. Gas chromatography is a common method for the analysis of FA composition of food or biological samples while HPLC-MS/MS technique has an outstanding sensitivity and selectivity which makes it an excellent tool for the analysis of a wide variety of complex cellular compounds with similar structures as well. A major disadvantage of the protocols available at the beginning of my work was the involvement of a time-consuming sample preparation with chloroform as an extracting

agent for lipid analysis [69, 71]. During our research, we developed a GC-FID method for the quantification of endogenous and exogenous FAs and a HPLC-MS/MS method for the quantification of DGs and ceramides. In both measurements, we used rapid sample preparations omitting the carcinogen chloroform. In case of FA profiling, we demonstrated that after the acid-catalyzed esterification, the evaporation of the samples is essential in order to eliminate boron trifluoride and prevent the column from degradation. This validated method is suitable for the quantification of a wide range of FAs including saturated, cis- and trans-unsaturated ones. We also proved that the usage of pure methanol instead of the chloroform/methanol mixture provides the same yield in one step without a lengthy extraction protocol in case of ceramides and DGs.

Our experiments on FA-treated cells revealed an incorporation of the purely exogenous trans FAs as efficient as that of their more physiological saturated and cis-unsaturated counterparts in the cells. Our analysis showed an elevation in the levels of lipids containing the specific FAs administered and also in the level of some metabolic products. We found elevated concentrations of the desaturation and elongation products of palmitate proving that the FA was intensely metabolized by the cells. Our results revealed some differences between the metabolism of the cis-unsaturated oleate and the transunsaturated elaidate and vaccenate. We found elevated levels of trans-palmitoleate (16:1 t Δ 7) and its positional isomer (16:1 t Δ 9), which are the β -oxidation products of elaidate and vaccenate, respectively. However, in case of oleate, the elevation of cis-palmitoleate (16:1 t Δ 7) was not observed. A possible reason for this phenomenon may be a different affinity of the mitochondrial long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (LCAD) enzyme to cisor trans-unsaturated FAs. It has been demonstrated that LCAD has a different affinity to 5-trans-tetradecenoyl-CoA and 5-cis-tetradecenoyl-CoA, and this might explain the poor oxidation of elaidate compared to oleate [111]. This difference may affect the intensity of FA utilization in several anabolic pathways thus it deserves further investigation.

When we treated HepG2 cells with palmitate in toxic concentration, we observed an obvious accumulation of some biosynthetic lipid intermediates. Regarding DG levels, there was a noticeable change in the ratio of DGs containing only saturated FA chains and of the DGs which contained at least one unsaturated FA chain. Accordingly, the most prominent, 18.5-fold elevation was observed in the level of dipalmitoyl-glycerol. The synthesis of TGs follows a genetically determined pattern, where a saturated FA chain is

usually attached to the first position of glycerol and an unsaturated FA chain occupies the second position [32]. In addition, the specific activity of DGAT2 is twice as high with oleoyl-CoA than with palmitoyl-CoA ([31]). Both facts suggest that the further acylation of the fully saturated DGs thus the synthesis of TGs may be hindered when only saturated acyl-CoA is provided. As mentioned above, the incorporation of saturated FAs into DGs has a direct effect on the composition of membrane lipids. It has been revealed in several studies that increased level of membrane saturation triggered ER stress which eventually may cause inflammation, fibrosis and cell death [5, 112]. In CHO cells, it has been proven that exogenous palmitate was rapidly incorporated into membrane phospholipids (mostly into phosphatidylcholine) [35]. It has also been revealed that the increased saturation of membrane lipid species caused an obvious change in ER structure and membrane integrity. Computational analyses have shown that unsaturated FAs can prevent changes in the membrane fluidity so they can act as membrane stabilizer molecules [36].

Ceramide accumulation may be induced in two ways by palmitate overload. The first step of the *de novo* ceramide synthesis is the condensation of a palmitoyl-CoA and a serine; it is thus possible that an oversupply of palmitate may enhance the synthesis of ceramides through sphinganine production. The elongation product of palmitoyl-CoA is stearoyl-CoA, which is used as a substrate in both the *de novo* and the salvage pathways of Cer18:0 ceramide. When two different enzyme inhibitors were used to reveal which pathways played the key role in the accumulation of ceramides, it was found that both of the pathways contribute equally to the increase [113].

The mitigating effect of desaturation against saturated FA-induced lipotoxicity has been demonstrated in several studies [95, 114, 115]. SCD1 receives electrons from NAD(P)H via CYB5R and CYB5. Beside these proteins, NCB5OR can provide an alternative electron transfer route for SCD1. The NCB5OR knock-out mice show a similar lipoatrophy and a decrease in the ratio of unsaturated/saturated FAs as SCD1 knock-out mice [64]. It is an interesting question that the desaturation capacity of the cell is limited by the expression level of SCD1 or by the conductivity of the electron transfer chains.

When we overexpressed SCD1 alone, a notable shift in the ratio of unsaturated and saturated FAs was observed which is an obvious sign of the enhancement of desaturase activity without metabolic tension. In contrast, when the proteins of the classic electron transfer chain (i.e., CYB5R and/or CYB5) or the alternative electron supplier NCB5OR were overexpressed, no change in the ratio was observed indicating that there was no accelerated desaturation. This suggests that in the wild-type cells, SCD1 functions at its full capacity, and in case of an elevation in the level of SCD1, the substrate and the electron supply allow a more intense desaturation. This is consistent with the rate-limiting role of SCD1 in the Δ 9 desaturation. However, we presumed that a higher demand caused by an intensified SCD1 activity, may exhaust the electron supply provided by CYB5R and CYB5 or NCB5OR. The enhanced activity can be provoked by SCD1 overexpression or a palmitate-treatment, and in these experimental conditions, the electron transfer might become rate-limiting.

Therefore, we treated the cells with palmitate to increase the demand of desaturation and potentially exhaust the electron transfer chain. The FA concentration was chosen based on the literature and our own experiments [5, 116]. This 50 μ M palmitate concentration is enough to challenge the SCD1 enzyme however, it does not cause any destructive stress to the cells. According to our data, the treatment induced a significant change in the FA profile of HEK293T cells without any decrease in cell viability or metabolic imbalance. However, neither palmitate-treatment nor elevated SCD1 levels allowed overexpression of the electron transfer proteins to further enhance the desaturation in the cells.

These observations show that in our cellular model, in HEK293T cells, SCD1 itself catalyzes the rate limiting reaction of the $\Delta 9$ desaturation and this cannot be further facilitated by a reinforcement of the electron supply. Our results are consistent with the publications about the induction of SCD1 expression upon palmitate treatment [117-119], and in the scientific literature, no data is available about the similar induction of the electron transfer proteins after saturated FA treatment.

5. Conclusion

Lipotoxicity has been receiving a growing attention, and it became evident that elevated FFA levels especially those of the saturated ones, are deleterious to cells. Accumulation of toxic intermediates and increased levels of saturation of membrane lipids can induce ER stress and hence it may cause severe malfunction of cells. SCD1 inserts the first double bond into the saturated fatty acyl chains, and hence this enzyme plays a central role in the desaturation of endogenous and exogenous FAs. SCD1 receives electrons from NAD(P)H via CYB5R and CYB5. NCB5OR, an oxidoreductase with a CYB5R-like and CYB5-like domain, may provide an alternative electron transfer chain. Because of the presence of an alternative electron transfer route, and the protective role of NCB5OR against palmitate toxicity, we may assume that there is a need of an enhancement of the chain in case of FA oversupply.

During our research:

- We developed and validated a simple and reliable method using gas chromatography with flame ionization detection for the quantification of 10 saturated and unsaturated FAs. Beside the GC-FID analysis, we achieved the simultaneous detemination of 14 ceramides and diglycerides. Our studies revealed that both the saturated and the cis and trans unsaturated fatty acids were incorporated efficiently, and that palmitate treatment caused an obvious elevation in the level of fully saturated diglyerides and a shift in the ratio of fully saturated DGs and partly unsaturated DGs, and that palmitate treatment caused a significant intracellular Cer16:0 and Cer18:0 ceramide accumulation.
- We concluded that the overexpression of SCD1 enhanced the desaturation and increased the unsaturated/saturated FA ratio; however, the overexpression of the proteins of the classic or alternative electron transfer chain could not further facilitate the desaturation.
- In our cellular model, the desaturation-associated electron transfer could not be considered as a rate-limiting step in the desaturation process even under enhanced desaturation of saturated FA overload.

Our research revealed that the regulation of SCD1 expression can play an important role in the protection against lipotoxicity, thus it deserves further investigation. Moreover,

DOI:10.14753/SE.2021.2547

considering the facts that in NCB5OR knock-out mice, the desaturation is damaged, and the mice have lipoatrophy and insulin-dependent diabetes while the electron transfer does not have role in the rate-limiting step of desaturation, it is worthwhile to investigate an alternative protecting mechanism of NCB5OR against lipotoxicity. In addition, the change in the DG structure and the intracellular ceramide accumulation may play an important role in saturated FA toxicity.

6. Summary

It became evident that permanently elevated FFA levels are deleterious to cells. Saturated FAs are particularly harmful while cis unsaturated ones are partly protective. In addition, *in vivo* studies assign harmful effect to dietary TFAs while little is known about the metabolism of these components. SCD1 is a key enzyme of FA metabolism which receives electrons from NAD(P)H via CYB5R and CYB5. NCB5OR is an oxidoreductase with a CYB5R-like and CYB5-like domain, thus it may play a role in FA desaturation. Because of the presence of an alternative electron transfer chain, we may assume that there is a need of an enhancement of the chain in case of FA oversupply. Precise analytical methods for the profiling the cellular lipid components are essential for the thorough investigation of the metabolic stress caused by excess FAs in the cells.

For the analysis of lipid content of the cells, we developed two sensitive and robust methods with simplified sample preparations which avoid the use of chloroform. Our HPLC-MS/MS method is suitable for the simultaneous detection of four ceramides and ten DGs. With this optimized method, we detected cellular accumulation of ceramides and DGs in the cells after an 8 h long treatment with BSA-conjugated palmitate (250 μ M). The pronounced ceramide accumulation observed in palmitate-treated cells is consistent with the blockade of the pathway of TG synthesis at the phase of fully saturated DGs. Our GC-FID method enables the quantification of ten saturated and unsaturated FAs. We observed differences between the metabolism of cis and trans unsaturated FAs in RINm5F cells since we detected accumulating catabolic intermediates of the latter ones. After the optimization of the analytical methods, we overexpressed SCD1, CYB5R, CYB5, NCB5OR, or their combinations in human HEK293T cells and analyzed the FA profile and the alteration in the unsaturated/saturated ratio to investigate the influence of the expression level of proteins involved in the desaturation process on the desaturating activity. Our results suggest that the level of the desaturase enzyme itself but not the expression of the associated electron transfer chain components defines the capacity to desaturate FAs in our cellular model. Considering the fact, that NCB5OR has a protecting effect against lipotoxicity, it deserves a further investigation regarding an alternative protecting mechanism.

7. References

[1] V.M. Gershuni. (2018) Saturated Fat: Part of a Healthy Diet, *Curr Nutr Rep* 7(3) 85-96.

[2] V. Dhaygude, A. Soos, L. Somogyi. (2018) Solidification of the Blends of Fully Hydrogenated Coconut Oil and Non-hydrogenated Coconut Oil, *Periodica Polytechnica-Chemical Engineering* 62(1) 123-127.

[3] C. Miklos. (2016) Hyper-free fatty acidemia - insulin resistance and beta-cell death, *Orvosi Hetilap* 157(19) 733-739.

[4] J.N. Fain. (2006) Release of interleukins and other inflammatory cytokines by human adipose tissue is enhanced in obesity and primarily due to the nonfat cells, *Vitam Horm* 74 443-77.

[5] V. Zámbó, L. Simon-Szabó, P. Szelényi, E. Kereszturi, G. Bánhegyi, M. Csala. (2013)Lipotoxicity in the liver, *World J Hepatol* 5(10) 550-557.

[6] E. Lai, G. Bikopoulos, M.B. Wheeler, M. Rozakis-Adcock, A. Volchuk. (2008) Differential activation of ER stress and apoptosis in response to chronically elevated free fatty acids in pancreatic beta-cells, *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 294(3) E540-550.

[7] H. Kristinsson, P. Bergsten, E. Sargsyan. (2015) Free fatty acid receptor 1 (FFAR1/GPR40) signaling affects insulin secretion by enhancing mitochondrial respiration during palmitate exposure, *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1853(12) 3248-3257.

[8] N. Alkhouri, L.J. Dixon, A.E. Feldstein. (2009) Lipotoxicity in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: not all lipids are created equal, *Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 3(4) 445-451.

[9] C.M. Volpe, J.A. Nogueira-Machado. (2013) The dual role of free fatty acid signaling in inflammation and therapeutics, *Recent Pat Endocr Metab Immune Drug Discov* 7(3) 189-197.

[10] S. Xu, S.M. Nam, J.H. Kim, R. Das, S.K. Choi, T.T. Nguyen, X. Quan, S.J. Choi, C.H. Chung, E.Y. Lee, I.K. Lee, A. Wiederkehr, C.B. Wollheim, S.K. Cha, K.S. Park.
(2015) Palmitate induces ER calcium depletion and apoptosis in mouse podocytes subsequent to mitochondrial oxidative stress, *Cell Death Dis* 6 e1976.

[11] M. Kazantzis, A. Stahl. (2012) Fatty acid transport proteins, implications in physiology and disease, *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1821(5) 852-857.

[12] G. Bánhegyi, M. Csala, J. Mandl, A. Burchell, B. Burchell, P. Marcolongo, R. Fulceri, A. Benedetti. (1996) Fatty acyl-CoA esters and the permeability of rat liver microsomal vesicles, *Biochem J* 320 (Pt 1) 343-344.

[13] M. Csala, É. Kereszturi, J. Mandl, G. Bánhegyi. (2012) The endoplasmic reticulum as the extracellular space inside the cell: role in protein folding and glycosylation, *Antioxid Redox Signal* 16(10) 1100-1108.

[14] S. Oyadomari, M. Mori. (2004) Roles of CHOP/GADD153 in endoplasmic reticulum stress, *Cell Death Differ* 11(4) 381-389.

[15] K. Lei, R.J. Davis. (2003) JNK phosphorylation of Bim-related members of the Bcl2 family induces Bax-dependent apoptosis, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100(5) 2432-2437.

[16] L. Yuzefovych, G. Wilson, L. Rachek. (2010) Different effects of oleate vs. palmitate on mitochondrial function, apoptosis, and insulin signaling in L6 skeletal muscle cells: role of oxidative stress, *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 299(6) E1096-1105.

[17] R. Barazzoni, M. Zanetti, G. Gortan Cappellari, A. Semolic, M. Boschelle, E. Codarin, A. Pirulli, L. Cattin, G. Guarnieri. (2012) Fatty acids acutely enhance insulininduced oxidative stress and cause insulin resistance by increasing mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation and nuclear factor- κ B inhibitor (I κ B)-nuclear factor- κ B (NF κ B) activation in rat muscle, in the absence of mitochondrial dysfunction, *Diabetologia* 55(3) 773-782.

[18] H. Li, X. Yu. (2013) Emerging role of JNK in insulin resistance, *Curr Diabetes Rev* 9(5) 422-428.

[19] R. Ragheb, G.M. Shanab, A.M. Medhat, D.M. Seoudi, K. Adeli, I.G. Fantus. (2009) Free fatty acid-induced muscle insulin resistance and glucose uptake dysfunction: evidence for PKC activation and oxidative stress-activated signaling pathways, *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 389(2) 211-216.

[20] K. Thörn, P. Bergsten. (2010) Fatty acid-induced oxidation and triglyceride formation is higher in insulin-producing MIN6 cells exposed to oleate compared to palmitate, *J Cell Biochem* 111(2) 497-507.

[21] E. Karaskov, C. Scott, L. Zhang, T. Teodoro, M. Ravazzola, A. Volchuk. (2006) Chronic palmitate but not oleate exposure induces endoplasmic reticulum stress, which may contribute to INS-1 pancreatic beta-cell apoptosis, *Endocrinology* 147(7) 3398-3407. [22] N.S. Kalupahana, K.J. Claycombe, N. Moustaid-Moussa. (2011) (n-3) Fatty acids alleviate adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance: mechanistic insights, Adv Nutr 2(4) 304-316.

[23] J. Salmerón, F.B. Hu, J.E. Manson, M.J. Stampfer, G.A. Colditz, E.B. Rimm, W.C.
Willett. (2001) Dietary fat intake and risk of type 2 diabetes in women, *Am J Clin Nutr* 73(6) 1019-1026.

[24] M.E. Kleber, G.E. Delgado, S. Lorkowski, W. März, C. von Schacky. (2016) Transfatty acids and mortality in patients referred for coronary angiography: the Ludwigshafen Risk and Cardiovascular Health Study, *Eur Heart J* 37(13) 1072-1078.

[25] F. Sarnyai, M.B. Donkó, J. Mátyási, Z. Gór-Nagy, I. Marczi, L. Simon-Szabó, V. Zámbó, A. Somogyi, T. Csizmadia, P. Lőw, P. Szelényi, É. Kereszturi, B. Tóth, M. Csala. (2019) Cellular toxicity of dietary trans fatty acids and its correlation with ceramide and diglyceride accumulation, *Food Chem Toxicol* 124 324-335.

[26] D. Sommerweiss, T. Gorski, S. Richter, A. Garten, W. Kiess. (2013) Oleate rescues INS-1E β -cells from palmitate-induced apoptosis by preventing activation of the unfolded protein response, *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 441(4) 770-776.

[27] X. Chen, L. Li, X. Liu, R. Luo, G. Liao, J. Liu, J. Cheng, Y. Lu, Y. Chen. (2018) Oleic acid protects saturated fatty acid mediated lipotoxicity in hepatocytes and rat of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, *Life Sci* 203 291-304.

[28] F. Sarnyai, A. Somogyi, Z. Gór-Nagy, V. Zámbó, P. Szelényi, J. Mátyási, L. Simon-Szabó, É. Kereszturi, B. Tóth, M. Csala. (2020) Effect of cis- and trans-Monounsaturated Fatty Acids on Palmitate Toxicity and on Palmitate-induced Accumulation of Ceramides and Diglycerides, *Int J Mol Sci* 21(7).

[29] L.L. Listenberger, X. Han, S.E. Lewis, S. Cases, R.V. Farese, D.S. Ory, J.E. Schaffer.
(2003) Triglyceride accumulation protects against fatty acid-induced lipotoxicity, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100(6) 3077-3082.

[30] S.J. Smith, S. Cases, D.R. Jensen, H.C. Chen, E. Sande, B. Tow, D.A. Sanan, J. Raber, R.H. Eckel, R.V. Farese. (2000) Obesity resistance and multiple mechanisms of triglyceride synthesis in mice lacking *Dgat*, *Nat Genet* 25(1) 87-90.

[31] R.A. Coleman, D.P. Lee. (2000) Enzymes of triacylglycerol synthesis and their regulation, *Prog Lipid Res* 43(2) x 134-176.

[32] A. Yamashita, Y. Hayashi, Y. Nemoto-Sasaki, M. Ito, S. Oka, T. Tanikawa, K. Waku, T. Sugiura. (2014) Acyltransferases and transacylases that determine the fatty acid composition of glycerolipids and the metabolism of bioactive lipid mediators in mammalian cells and model organisms, *Prog Lipid Res* 53 18-81.

[33] P.C. Moore, M.A. Ugas, D.K. Hagman, S.D. Parazzoli, V. Poitout. (2004) Evidence against the involvement of oxidative stress in fatty acid inhibition of insulin secretion, *Diabetes* 53(10) 2610-2616.

[34] H. Ariyama, N. Kono, S. Matsuda, T. Inoue, H. Arai. (2010) Decrease in membrane phospholipid unsaturation induces unfolded protein response, *J Biol Chem* 285(29) 22027-22035.

[35] N.M. Borradaile, X. Han, J.D. Harp, S.E. Gale, D.S. Ory, J.E. Schaffer. (2006) Disruption of endoplasmic reticulum structure and integrity in lipotoxic cell death, *J Lipid Res* 47(12) 2726-2737.

[36] S. Leekumjorn, H.J. Cho, Y. Wu, N.T. Wright, A.K. Sum, C. Chan. (2009) The role of fatty acid unsaturation in minimizing biophysical changes on the structure and local effects of bilayer membranes, *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1788(7) 1508-1516.

[37] J.Y. Lee, H.K. Cho, Y.H. Kwon. (2010) Palmitate induces insulin resistance without significant intracellular triglyceride accumulation in HepG2 cells, *Metabolism* 59(7) 927-934.

[38] A. Somogyi, M.B. Donko, F. Sarnyai, G. Becskereki, M. Csala, B. Toth, Simultaneous Quantitative Determination of Different Ceramide and Diacylglycerol Species in Cultured Cells by Using Liquid Chromatography-Electrospray Tandem Mass Spectrometry, (2020) *Periodica Polytechnica-Chemical Engineering* 64(4) 421-429.

[39] B. Kwon, H.K. Lee, H.W. Querfurth. (2014) Oleate prevents palmitate-induced mitochondrial dysfunction, insulin resistance and inflammatory signaling in neuronal cells, *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1843(7) 1402-1413.

[40] S. Jayadev, B. Liu, A.E. Bielawska, J.Y. Lee, F. Nazaire, Pushkareva MYu, L.M.Obeid, Y.A. Hannun. (1995) Role for ceramide in cell cycle arrest, *J Biol Chem* 270(5) 2047-2052.

[41] M.E. Venable, J.Y. Lee, M.J. Smyth, A. Bielawska, L.M. Obeid. (1995) Role of ceramide in cellular senescence, *J Biol Chem* 270(51) 30701-30708.

[42] Q. Zhu, J. Yang, R. Zhu, X. Jiang, W. Li, S. He, J. Jin. (2016) Dihydroceramidedesaturase-1-mediated caspase 9 activation through ceramide plays a pivotal role in palmitic acid-induced HepG2 cell apoptosis, *Apoptosis* 21(9) 1033-1044.

[43] E. Boslem, G. MacIntosh, A.M. Preston, C. Bartley, A.K. Busch, M. Fuller, D.R. Laybutt, P.J. Meikle, T.J. Biden. (2011) A lipidomic screen of palmitate-treated MIN6 β -cells links sphingolipid metabolites with endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and impaired protein trafficking, *Biochem J* 435(1) 267-276.

[44] J. Véret, N. Coant, E.V. Berdyshev, A. Skobeleva, N. Therville, D. Bailbé, I. Gorshkova, V. Natarajan, B. Portha, H. Le Stunff. (2011) Ceramide synthase 4 and de novo production of ceramides with specific N-acyl chain lengths are involved in glucolipotoxicity-induced apoptosis of INS-1 β -cells, *Biochem J* 438(1) 177-189.

[45] B.M. Castro, M. Prieto, L.C. Silva (2014) Ceramide: a simple sphingolipid with unique biophysical properties, *Prog Lipid Res* 54 53-67.

[46] U. Karunakaran, J.S. Moon, H.W. Lee, K.C. Won. (2015) CD36 initiated signaling mediates ceramide-induced TXNIP expression in pancreatic beta-cells, *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1852(11) 2414-2422.

[47] H. Guillou, D. Zadravec, P.G. Martin, A. Jacobsson. (2010) The key roles of elongases and desaturases in mammalian fatty acid metabolism: Insights from transgenic mice, *Prog Lipid Res* 49(2) 186-199.

[48] H.G. Enoch, A. Catalá, P. Strittmatter. (1976) Mechanism of rat liver microsomal stearyl-CoA desaturase. Studies of the substrate specificity, enzyme-substrate interactions, and the function of lipid, *J Biol Chem* 251(16) 5095-5103.

[49] L. Hodson, B.A. Fielding. (2013) Stearoyl-CoA desaturase: rogue or innocent bystander?, *Prog Lipid Res* 52(1) 15-42.

[50] J.M. Ntambi, M. Miyazaki, J.P. Stoehr, H. Lan, C.M. Kendziorski, B.S. Yandell, Y. Song, P. Cohen, J.M. Friedman, A.D. Attie. (2002) Loss of stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 function protects mice against adiposity, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99(17) 11482-11486.

[51] T. Iwai, S. Kume, M. Chin-Kanasaki, S. Kuwagata, H. Araki, N. Takeda, T. Sugaya,
T. Uzu, H. Maegawa, S.I. Araki. (2016) Stearoyl-CoA Desaturase-1 Protects Cells against
Lipotoxicity-Mediated Apoptosis in Proximal Tubular Cells, *Int J Mol Sci* 17(11).

[52] J. Janikiewicz, K. Hanzelka, A. Dziewulska, K. Kozinski, P. Dobrzyn, T. Bernas, A. Dobrzyn. (2015) Inhibition of SCD1 impairs palmitate-derived autophagy at the step of autophagosome-lysosome fusion in pancreatic β -cells, *J Lipid Res* 56(10) 1901-1911.

[53] D. Cai, J. Fan, D. Ma, Y. Wu, Y. Lu. (2014) [SCD1 over-expression inhibits palmitic acid-induced apoptosis of rat BRL hepatocytes], *Zhonghua Gan Zang Bing Za Zhi* 22(1) 48-52.

[54] K. Thörn, M. Hovsepyan, P. Bergsten. (2010) Reduced levels of SCD1 accentuate palmitate-induced stress in insulin-producing β -cells, *Lipids Health Dis* 9 108.

[55] H.P. Cho, M.T. Nakamura, S.D. Clarke. (1999) Cloning, expression, and nutritional regulation of the mammalian Delta-6 desaturase, *J Biol Chem* 274(1) 471-477.

[56] A.E. Leonard, B. Kelder, E.G. Bobik, L.T. Chuang, J.M. Parker-Barnes, J.M. Thurmond, P.E. Kroeger, J.J. Kopchick, Y.S. Huang, P. Mukerji. (2000) cDNA cloning and characterization of human Delta5-desaturase involved in the biosynthesis of arachidonic acid, *Biochem J* 347 Pt 3 719-724.

[57] A. Koeberle, K. Löser, M. Thürmer. (2016) Stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 and adaptive stress signaling, *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1861(11) 1719-1726.

[58] R. Kuroda, J. Kinoshita, M. Honsho, J. Mitoma, A. Ito. (1996) In situ topology of cytochrome b5 in the endoplasmic reticulum membrane, *J Biochem* 120(4) 828-833.

[59] P. Strittmatter, L. Spatz, D. Corcoran, M.J. Rogers, B. Setlow, R. Redline. (1974) Purification and properties of rat liver microsomal stearyl coenzyme A desaturase, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 71(11) 4565-4569.

[60] H. Zhu, H. Qiu, H.W. Yoon, S. Huang, H.F. Bunn. (1999) Identification of a cytochrome b-type NAD(P)H oxidoreductase ubiquitously expressed in human cells, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96(26) 14742-14747.

[61] V. Zámbó, M. Tóth, K. Schlachter, P. Szelényi, F. Sarnyai, G. Lotz, M. Csala, É. Kereszturi. (2016) Cytosolic localization of NADH cytochrome b₅ oxidoreductase (Ncb5or), *FEBS Lett* 590(5) 661-671.

[62] R.D. Finn, L.A. McLaughlin, C. Hughes, C. Song, C.J. Henderson, C. Roland Wolf.
(2011) Cytochrome b5 null mouse: a new model for studying inherited skin disorders and the role of unsaturated fatty acids in normal homeostasis, *Transgenic Res* 20(3) 491-502.
[63] J. Xie, H. Zhu, K. Larade, A. Ladoux, A. Seguritan, M. Chu, S. Ito, R.T. Bronson, E.H. Leiter, C.Y. Zhang, E.D. Rosen, H.F. Bunn. (2004) Absence of a reductase,

NCB5OR, causes insulin-deficient diabetes, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101(29) 10750-10755.

[64] K. Larade, Z. Jiang, Y. Zhang, W. Wang, S. Bonner-Weir, H. Zhu, H.F. Bunn. (2008) Loss of Ncb5or results in impaired fatty acid desaturation, lipoatrophy, and diabetes, *J Biol Chem* 283(43) 29285-29291.

[65] V. Zámbó, L. Simon-Szabó, F. Sarnyai, J. Mátyási, Z. Gór-Nagy, A. Somogyi, P. Szelényi, É. Kereszturi, B. Tóth, M. Csala. (2020) Investigation of the putative ratelimiting role of electron transfer in fatty acid desaturation using transfected HEK293T cells, *FEBS Lett* 594(3) 530-539.

[66] J.T. Brenna. (2013) Fatty acid analysis by high resolution gas chromatography and mass spectrometry for clinical and experimental applications, *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* 16(5) 548-554.

[67] J. Folch, M. Lees, G.H. Sloane Stanley. (1957) A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues, *J Biol Chem* 226(1) 497-509.

[68] E.G. Bligh. (1978) A Rapid Method of Total Lipid Extraction and Purification, *Current Contents* (52) 11-11.

[69] A.I. Ostermann, M. Müller, I. Willenberg, N.H. Schebb. (2014) Determining the fatty acid composition in plasma and tissues as fatty acid methyl esters using gas chromatography – a comparison of different derivatization and extraction procedures, *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids* 91(6) 235-241.

[70] F. Smedes, T.K. Thomasen. (1996) Evaluation of the Bligh & Dyer lipid determination method, *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 32(8-9) 681-688.

[71] R.O. Rodrigues, H. Costa, R. Lima, J.S. Amaral. (2015) Simple Methodology for the Quantitative Analysis of Fatty Acids in Human Red Blood Cells, *Chromatographia* 78(19-20) 1271-1281.

[72] K.S. Liu. (1994) Preparation of fatty-acid methyl esters for gas-chromatographic analysis of lipids in biological-materials, *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 71(11) 1179-1187.

[73] G. Lepage, C.C. Roy. (1986) Direct transesterification of all classes of lipids in a one-step reaction, *J Lipid Res* 27(1) 114-120.

[74] J.X. Kang, J. Wang. (2005) A simplified method for analysis of polyunsaturated fatty acids, *BMC Biochem* 6 5.

[75] L.R. Wolff. (1992) Resolution of Linolenic Acid Geometrical Isomers by Gas— Liquid Chromatography on a Capillary Column Coated with a 100% Cyanopropyl Polysiloxane Film (CPTMSil 88), *Journal of Chromatographic Science* 30(1) 17-22.

[76] S.P. Alves, R.J. Bessa. (2009) Comparison of two gas-liquid chromatograph columns for the analysis of fatty acids in ruminant meat, *J Chromatogr A* 1216(26) 5130-5139.

[77] R.H. Thompson. (1997) Direct measurement of total trans- and cis-octadecenoic fatty acids based on a gas-liquid chromatographic class separation of trans-18:1 and cis-18:1 fatty acid methyl esters, *Journal of Chromatographic Science* 35(11) 536-544.

[78] E.D. Dodds, M.R. McCoy, L.D. Rea, J.M. Kennish. (2005) Gas chromatographic quantification of fatty acid methyl esters: flame ionization detection vs. electron impact mass spectrometry, *Lipids* 40(4) 419-428.

[79] B. Bicalho, F. David, K. Rumplel, E. Kindt, P. Sandra. (2008) Creating a fatty acid methyl ester database for lipid profiling in a single drop of human blood using high resolution capillary gas chromatography and mass spectrometry, *J Chromatogr A* 1211(1-2) 120-128.

[80] P.P. Van Veldhoven, W.R. Bishop, D.A. Yurivich, R.M. Bell. (1995) Ceramide quantitation: evaluation of a mixed micellar assay using E. coli diacylglycerol kinase, *Biochem Mol Biol Int* 36(1) 21-30.

[81] J.E. Preiss, C.R. Loomis, R.M. Bell, J.E. Niedel. (1987) Quantitative measurement of sn-1,2-diacylglycerols, *Methods Enzymol* 141 294-300.

[82] A.D. Tepper, J.G. Cock, E. de Vries, J. Borst, W.J. van Blitterswijk. (1997) CD95/Fas-induced ceramide formation proceeds with slow kinetics and is not blocked by caspase-3/CPP32 inhibition, *J Biol Chem* 272(39) 24308-24312.

[83] K. Okumura, K. Hayashi, I. Morishima, K. Murase, H. Matsui, Y. Toki, T. Ito. (1998) Simultaneous quantitation of ceramides and 1,2-diacylglycerol in tissues by Iatroscan thin-layer chromatography-flame-ionization detection, *Lipids* 33(5) 529-532.

[84] M. Iwamori, C. Costello, H.W. Moser. (1979) Analysis and quantitation of free ceramide containing nonhydroxy and 2-hydroxy fatty acids, and phytosphingosine by high-performance liquid chromatography, *J Lipid Res* 20(1) 86-96.

[85] M. Previati, L. Bertolaso, M. Tramarin, V. Bertagnolo, S. Capitani. (1996) Low nanogram range quantitation of diglycerides and ceramide by high-performance liquid chromatography, *Anal Biochem* 233(1) 108-114.

[86] X. Han. (2002) Characterization and direct quantitation of ceramide molecular species from lipid extracts of biological samples by electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry, *Anal Biochem* 302(2) 199-212.

[87] J. Chen, S.B. Narayan, A.L. Edinger, M.J. Bennett. (2012) Flow injection tandem mass spectrometric measurement of ceramides of multiple chain lengths in biological samples, *J Chromatogr B* Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 883-884 136-140.

[88] T. Kasumov, H. Huang, Y.M. Chung, R. Zhang, A.J. McCullough, J.P. Kirwan. (2010) Quantification of ceramide species in biological samples by liquid chromatography electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry, *Anal Biochem* 401(1) 154-161.

[89] W.L. Chuang, J. Pacheco, K. Zhang. (2016) A Simple, High-Throughput Method for Analysis of Ceramide, Glucosylceramide, and Ceramide Trihexoside in Dried Blood Spots by LC/MS/MS, *Methods Mol Biol* 1378 263-272.

[90] P.C. Moore, M.A. Ugas, D.K. Hagman, S.D. Parazzoli, V. Poitout. (2004) Evidence against the involvement of oxidative stress in fatty acid inhibition of insulin secretion, *Diabetes* 53(10) 2610-2616.

[91] H. Brüschweiler, A. Dieffenbacher. (1991) Determination of Mono- and Diglycerides by Capillary Gas Chromatography, *Pure and Applied Chemistry* 63(8) 1153-1162.

[92] T.J. Leiker, R.M. Barkley, R.C. Murphy. (2011) Analysis of Diacylglycerol Molecular Species in Cellular Lipid Extracts by Normal-Phase LC-Electrospray Mass Spectrometry, *Int J Mass Spectrom* 305(2-3) 103-109.

[93] Y.L. Li, X. Su, P.D. Stahl, M.L. Gross. (2007) Quantification of diacylglycerol molecular species in biological samples by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry after one-step derivatization, *Anal Chem* 79(4) 1569-1574.

[94] <u>https://hmdb.ca/spectra/ms_ms/598490</u> (2018).

[95] H. Matsui, T. Yokoyama, K. Sekiguchi, D. Iijima, H. Sunaga, M. Maniwa, M. Ueno, T. Iso, M. Arai, M. Kurabayashi. (2012) Stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 (SCD1) augments saturated fatty acid-induced lipid accumulation and inhibits apoptosis in cardiac myocytes, *PLoS One* 7(3) e33283.

52

[96] Y. Zhang, K. Larade, Z.G. Jiang, S. Ito, W. Wang, H. Zhu, H.F. Bunn. (2010) The flavoheme reductase Ncb5or protects cells against endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced lipotoxicity, *J Lipid Res* 51(1) 53-62.

[97] M. Csala, (2016) [Hyper-free fatty acidemia - insulin resistance and β -cell death], *Orv Hetil* 157(19) 733-739.

[98] S. Galadari, A. Rahman, S. Pallichankandy, A. Galadari, F. Thayyullathil. (2013)Role of ceramide in diabetes mellitus: evidence and mechanisms, *Lipids Health Dis* 1298.

[99] S. Parekh, F.A. Anania. (2007) Abnormal lipid and glucose metabolism in obesity: implications for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, *Gastroenterology* 132(6) 2191-2207.

[100] M. Pagadala, T. Kasumov, A.J. McCullough, N.N. Zein, J.P. Kirwan, (2012) Role of ceramides in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 23(8) 365-371.

[101] J. Delarue, C. Magnan. (2007) Free fatty acids and insulin resistance, *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* 10(2) 142-148.

[102] L.I. Rachek. (2014) Free fatty acids and skeletal muscle insulin resistance, *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci* 121 267-292.

[103] K. Konstantynowicz-Nowicka, E. Harasim, M. Baranowski, A. Chabowski. (2015) New evidence for the role of ceramide in the development of hepatic insulin resistance, *PLoS One* 10(1) e0116858.

[104] K. Nagao, A. Murakami, M. Umeda. (2019) Structure and Function of Δ 9-Fatty Acid Desaturase, *Chem Pharm Bull* (Tokyo) 67(4) 327-332.

[105] C.J. Nolan, C.Z. Larter. (2009) Lipotoxicity: why do saturated fatty acids cause and monounsaturates protect against it?, *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 24(5) 703-706.

[106] E. Sargsyan, K. Artemenko, L. Manukyan, J. Bergquist, P. Bergsten. (2016) Oleate protects beta-cells from the toxic effect of palmitate by activating pro-survival pathways of the ER stress response, *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1861(9 Pt A) 1151-1160.

[107] L. Salvadó, T. Coll, A.M. Gómez-Foix, E. Salmerón, E. Barroso, X. Palomer, M. Vázquez-Carrera. (2013) Oleate prevents saturated-fatty-acid-induced ER stress, inflammation and insulin resistance in skeletal muscle cells through an AMPK-dependent mechanism, *Diabetologia* 56(6) 1372-1382.

[108] S. Hardy, W. El-Assaad, E. Przybytkowski, E. Joly, M. Prentki, Y. Langelier. (2003) Saturated fatty acid-induced apoptosis in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. A role for cardiolipin, *J Biol Chem* 278(34) 31861-31870.

[109] M. Ricchi, M.R. Odoardi, L. Carulli, C. Anzivino, S. Ballestri, A. Pinetti, L.I. Fantoni, F. Marra, M. Bertolotti, S. Banni, A. Lonardo, N. Carulli, P. Loria. (2009) Differential effect of oleic and palmitic acid on lipid accumulation and apoptosis in cultured hepatocytes, *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 24(5) 830-840.

[110] P.J. Lefèbvre, A.J. Scheen. (1992) Management of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, *Drugs* 44 Suppl 3 29-38.

[111] W. Yu, X. Liang, R.E. Ensenauer, J. Vockley, L. Sweetman, H. Schulz. (2004) Leaky beta-oxidation of a trans-fatty acid: incomplete beta-oxidation of elaidic acid is due to the accumulation of 5-trans-tetradecenoyl-CoA and its hydrolysis and conversion to 5-trans-tetradecenoylcarnitine in the matrix of rat mitochondria, *J Biol Chem* 279(50) 52160-52167.

[112] J. Mandl, T. Mészáros, G. Bánhegyi, M. Csala. (2013) Minireview: endoplasmic reticulum stress: control in protein, lipid, and signal homeostasis, *Mol Endocrinol* 27(3) 384-393.

[113] L. Manukyan, S.J. Ubhayasekera, J. Bergquist, E. Sargsyan, P. Bergsten. (2015) Palmitate-induced impairments of β -cell function are linked with generation of specific ceramide species via acylation of sphingosine, *Endocrinology* 156(3) 802-812.

[114] A. Peter, C. Weigert, H. Staiger, K. Rittig, A. Cegan, P. Lutz, F. Machicao, H.U. Häring, E. Schleicher. (2008) Induction of stearoyl-CoA desaturase protects human arterial endothelial cells against lipotoxicity, *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 295(2) E339-349.

[115] C.D. Green, L.K. Olson. (2011) Modulation of palmitate-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in pancreatic β -cells by stearoyl-CoA desaturase and Elovl6, *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 300(4) E640-649.

[116] M.K. Montgomery, W. De Nardo, M.J. Watt. (2019) Impact of Lipotoxicity on Tissue "Cross Talk" and Metabolic Regulation, Physiology (*Bethesda*) 34(2) 134-149.

[117] A. Peter, C. Weigert, H. Staiger, F. Machicao, F. Schick, J. Machann, N. Stefan, C. Thamer, H.U. Häring, E. Schleicher. (2009) Individual stearoyl-coa desaturase 1 expression modulates endoplasmic reticulum stress and inflammation in human myotubes

and is associated with skeletal muscle lipid storage and insulin sensitivity in vivo, *Diabetes* 58(8) 1757-1765.

[118] M.D. Voss, A. Beha, N. Tennagels, G. Tschank, A.W. Herling, M. Quint, M. Gerl, C. Metz-Weidmann, G. Haun, M. Korn. (2005) Gene expression profiling in skeletal muscle of Zucker diabetic fatty rats: implications for a role of stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 in insulin resistance, *Diabetologia* 48(12) 2622-2630.

[119] C. Rojas, B. Pan-Castillo, C. Valls, G. Pujadas, S. Garcia-Vallve, L. Arola, M. Mulero, (2014) Resveratrol enhances palmitate-induced ER stress and apoptosis in cancer cells, *PLoS One* 9(12) e113929.

8. Bibliography of the candidate's publications

Publications related to the thesis:

 Anna Somogyi; Judit Mátyási; Zsófia Gór-Nagy; Farkas Sarnyai; Miklós Csala; Blanka Tóth
 Application of Gas Chromatography – Flame Ionization Detection to Study Cellular Incorporation of Dietary Trans Fatty Acids of Medical Importance
 PERIODICA POLYTECHNICA-CHEMICAL ENGINEERING 65: 2 pp. 149-157., 9 p. (2021)

IF: 1.257

 Anna Somogyi; Mária Berinkeiné Donkó; Farkas Sarnyai; Gergely Becskereki; Miklós Csala; Blanka Tóth
 Simultaneous Quantitative Determination of Different Ceramide and Diacylglycerol Species in Cultured Cells by Using Liquid Chromatography– Electrospray Tandem Mass Spectrometry
 PERIODICA POLYTECHNICA-CHEMICAL ENGINEERING 64: 4 pp. 421-429., 9 p. (2020)

IF: 1.257

 Veronika Zámbó; Laura Simon-Szabó; Farkas Sarnyai; Judit Mátyási; Zsófia Gór-Nagy; Anna Somogyi; Péter Szelényi; Éva Kereszturi; Blanka Tóth; Miklós Csala Investigation of the putative rate-limiting role of electron transfer in fatty acid desaturation using transfected HEK293T cells FEBS LETTERS 594: 3 pp. 530-539., 10 p. (2020)

IF: 3.057

Publications not directly related to the thesis:

 Farkas Sarnyai; Anna Somogyi; Zsófia Gór-Nagy; Veronika Zámbó; Péter Szelényi; Judit Mátyási; Laura Simon-Szabó; Éva Kereszturi; Blanka Tóth; Miklós Csala
 Effect of cis- and trans-Monounsaturated Fatty Acids on Palmitate Toxicity and on Palmitate-induced Accumulation of Ceramides and Diglycerides
 INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF MOLECULAR SCIENCES 21: 7 Paper: 2626, 15 p. (2020)

IF: 4.556

 Farkas Sarnyai, Mária Berinkeiné Donkó, Judit Mátyási, Zsófia Gór-Nagy, Ildikó Marczi, Laura Simon-Szabó, Veronika Zámbó, Anna Somogyi, Tamás Csizmadia, Péter Lőw, Péter Szelényi, Éva Kereszturi, Blanka Tóth, Miklós Csala Cellular toxicity of dietary trans fatty acids and its correlation with ceramide and diglyceride accumulation FOOD AND CHEMICAL TOXICOLOGY 124 pp. 324-335., 12 p. (2019)

IF: 3.775

 Péter, Szelényi; Anna Somogyi; Farkas Sarnyai; Veronika Zámbó; Laura Simon-Szabó; Éva Kereszturi; Miklós Csala Microsomal pre-receptor cortisol production is inhibited by resveratrol and epigallocatechin gallate through different mechanisms BIOFACTORS 45: 2 pp. 236-243., 8 p. (2019)

IF: 3.598

 Anna Somogyi; György Horvai; Miklós Csala; Blanka Tóth Analytical Approaches for the Quantitation of Redox-active Pyridine Dinucleotides in Biological Matrices PERIODICA POLYTECHNICA-CHEMICAL ENGINEERING 60: 4 pp. 218-230., 13 p. (2016)

IF: 0.556

9. Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors Prof. Dr. Miklós Csala and Dr. Blanka Tóth for their effective guidance throughout the course of my Ph.D. studies. Without them, this dissertation would not have been realized. I would like to express my gratitude to the previous director and acting director, Dr. Gábor Bánhegyi and Dr. Gergely Keszler for providing me the opportunity to work at the Department of Molecular Biology at the Institute of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. I appreciate Prof. Dr. József Mandl for accepting me into the Ph.D. school.

Herein, I would like to thank the present and the past members of our laboratory, Éva Kereszturi, Farkas Sarnyai, Veronika Zámbó, Péter Szelényi and Laura Simon-Szabó for experimental help as well as for their useful comments and suggestions, and Valéria Béláné Szénási for her precious technical support. I am also deeply grateful for Judit Mátyási for her experimental contribution to my work. I would also like to thank all my colleagues working at the Department of Molecular Biology for their help.

Finally, I would like to express my special thanks to my family for their encouragement and support.